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Madam Chair Lee: Called the hearing to order on SB 2029 
 
(00:36-04:48) Senator Hogan: Introduced SB 2029. Please see Attachments 1-2 for written 
testimony.  
 
(05:00-07:43) Pam Sagness, Director of the Behavioral Health Division of the 
Department of Human Services. Testified in favor of SB 2029. Please see Attachement 
#3 for written testimony.  
 
Senator Anderson: What are the budget implications?  
 
Pam Sagness: The original Free Through Recovery program was budgeted at 7 million 
dollars, that money at this point in time will last for this biennium we won’t have a short fall. 
Our request in the governor’s executive budget is for the expansion for Free Through 
Recovery and we have budgeted at 4.5 million instead of the 7 million because of the need 
to bill providers and hire staff. We request at this time that this funding would be in the 
Department of Human Services budget instead of the Department of Corrections and 
Rehabilitation in order for us to reach populations that are not relevant to the Department of 
Corrections and Rehabilitation. How do we get these support services to parents who are 
currently receiving clinical services but they don’t have access currently to this program. 
There is a significant difference between the clinical services that are reimbursable and 
provided by providers versus the supportive services that are available in the community. 
These supportive services can be everything from employment services to housing services, 
care coordination, but most importantly peer support services. It is important to acknowledge 
that this is an opportunity to get services that coordinate that care in the community by people 
who have had the lived experience and also by teams of people together working to connect 
to the services that exist. I would also say its important to note that this is a program that’s 
based on outcomes, so that reimbursement is not higher based on illness. The goal right now 
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with the budget would be that we propose the 4.5 million in order to expand the program and 
that funding be available in the Department of Human Services budget.  
 
 
Senator Hogan: In both my testimony and Ms. Sagness, we cross referenced the HSRI 
recommendation so that we can begin to build a master grid. I think it’s a beginning of a way 
to address all of those 13 recommendations.  
 
Pam Sagness: I just wanted to note that the Free Through Recovery program was originally 
going to be piloted in three areas of the state, so when we last left here there was the goal 
that we would look at piloting but, because of the turnout of providers we have been able to 
provide services statewide. That 7 million was originally proposed as a pilot in three regions 
and we have been able to use that funding to expand services statewide.  
 
(15:00-17:31) Teresa Larsen, Executive Director of the Protection and Advocacy 
Project. Presenting testimony for Carlotta McCleary, Executive Director for Mental 
Health America of North Dakota and North Dakota Federation of Families for 
Children’s Mental Health. Please see Attachment #4 for written testimony.  
 
Senator Anderson: Can you be more specific on the last paragraph of your testimony 
 
Teresa Larsen: That’s something that providers could give you specifics on. We do have 
providers that are a part of our network and there have been examples given to us where 
peer supports have either had to volunteer time because they have not been reimbursed and 
maybe this is because there is a bigger plan for certification etc. so im not saying that this is 
anything intentional and nothing that can’t be worked out. If providers have concerns, I would 
encourage them to come forward.  
 
(19:37-26:18) Jessica Thomasson, CEO at Lutheran Social Services of North Dakota. 
Testifying in favor of SB 2029. Please see Attachment #5 for written testimony.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Would you briefly review the Family First Act. 
 
Jessica Thomasson: The Family First Prevention Services Act will allow states to redesign 
the way think of child welfare, so instead of only being able to use federal dollars that flow to 
the states, once children have been removed from the home, the state will now be able to 
spend those same dollars to stay safely at home and to help that family to figure out what 
has caused that disruption in the family cycle. It is the act of removing the child from their 
home that creates a trauma that is very hard to overcome. We go in and try to figure out what 
can be safe and sustainable. Sometimes it’s about economics, substance abuse, often 
mental health, and conflict resolution.  
 
Senator Clemens: When it comes to peer support and recognizing someone who is a 
support specialist, I have worked with individuals and there's points where you feel this 
person is really ready to go and showing positive moods, but is back and forth with into 
alcoholism and drugs for 4 years. How do you try to plan for selecting someone to be a peer 
support specialist, because a lot of the time it’s the family where these problems originate in 
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the first place and their past relationships is not what that person needs? I’m sure you 
recognize the difficulty in that, but that is a concern for me. How do we select good peers? 
 
Jessica Thomasson: I think each person that comes to peer support work does it with a 
mission to help they feel a real call to give back, but your right there has to be sense of 
stability and stability in recovery before a person is ready to take that peer support journey. I 
think there are certainly great resources that been available to us through the trainings the 
state has offered, there is even more to help us figure out what does good stable quality peer 
support look like, from both sides of the peer support specialist and the patient.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: It is common for someone to fall off the wagon and I would think that the 
relationships that the peer support individuals are able to establish with a person who is 
attempting recovery is that they’re not going away because you messed up once.  
 
Jessica Thomasson: The thing that peers are able to do is speak truth in a way that can be 
heard and understood in a way that’s entirely different than someone who doesn’t share that 
same experience. If the individual was to re-offend and ended up back in jail, through Free 
Through Recovery we can stay connected to that person because we are going to help them 
be more successful when they come out. Peers are able to approach it just with that next 
level of speaking truth and having the empathy that comes with lived experiences.  
 
Senator Clemens: What about the possibility of faith based organizations? 
 
Jessica Thomasson: One of the things that we hope to do more of this year is to try to build 
on the idea of a faith based peer support network to get people who are connected with the 
faith community and maybe who also have lived experience a chance to do exactly that to 
walk along someone who is in the early stages of recovery. What we are hoping to do is 
create this mix of volunteers who feel call to do this in their hometown and that would cover 
a lot of geography and it gives them the structure that they aren’t doing it alone. It can be 
overwhelming when you trying to figure out what are the boundaries and what do I do if this 
happens, so what we are trying to do is to create a place that a faith based peer support 
network can grow and try to reach deep into all of the communities in North Dakota to give 
people who want to make a difference in their community a chance to do that. One of the 
things we believe strongly there isn’t a lack of people who want to do good but it is a little 
scary to tackle it without having something to plug into. We do want to create a path so that 
people know how they can effectively and faithfully do peer support in their community and 
to help people in their hometown.  
 
(36:48-43:37) Adam Martin, Certified Peer Support Trainer, Care Coordinator, and Peer 
Support Specialist. Testifying in favor of bill SB 2029. Written testimony is as follows. 
 
Adam Martin: I have been able to train 200 peer supports throughout the state. We have 
Care Coordinators in Fargo, Devils Lake, and Bismarck. We also employ Peer Support 
Specialists in all those areas and if we don’t hire then we contract them. I believe that lived 
experience will trump knowledge at any time. Just from personal experience, I wish Free 
Through Recovery would have been available 6 years ago when I sobered up. When I 
sobered up I came out of jail and had nowhere to go, a guy let me sleep on his couch then 
later gave me a room to stay in he was a member of Alcoholics Anonymous and he 
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introduced me to people at AA and gave me rides to meetings, and helped me get a job. I 
think the most important aspect is that I knew I had someone I could talk to. Someone who 
had been in my shoes and who could empathize because I was put in positions many time 
where I had a probation officer and a psychologist and was referred multiple times. The one 
person that I had in the midst of that was my sponsor. Whether I was in jail, detox, or a 
treatment center his phone was readily available I would call him at 2:00 in the morning and 
he would always answer and help me navigate. That’s probably the most important aspect 
of Free Through Recovery is helping navigate through feelings and where my mindset is. 
Last night we had a meeting with the people that we provide peer support for and one of the 
overwhelming questions is what do I do with child support and because of all the people who 
have child support in that room we were able to give them a step by step process on how to 
get back on the right track with not just paying it but why is there so much interest, why can’t 
I see my kid if I’m paying child support. Those aren’t things that are trained in the normal 
everyday systems in having it come from someone who knows and experienced it and 
probably did some things wrong and right has been by far the greatest asset of all of it. We 
have 40 people that we do care coordination for, and most of them we do face-to-face 
meetings with. If they don’t work with one Care Coordinator, we are able to shift them to 
another one within our organization, and we’ve seen better results because people identify 
with different people. To answer your question, with the 200 peer supports that we have 
trained, they have come up with the idea that peer support specialist need peer support as 
well. It’s like being in AA and sponsoring a bunch of people and not having a sponsor of your 
own. Who do the people at the top rely on, the state? That’s where the gap is, so being able 
to rely on each other and having a peer support association and being able to use the care 
coordinators and offer a spectrum across the board where if you’re not working with me I 
know about five other peer supports that you can work with. Sometimes people can get 
hostile when things aren’t going their way, when they can’t see their kids or when they feel 
their probation officer is after them all the time. When you feel like you are in survival mode 
all the time you’re going to react poorly. I’m very passionate about this because there's an 
actual support center already doing this kind of stuff but there's no one who is specializing 
on continuing to work with them no matter what. What I see if we expand this, I want to see 
human resource people utilizing people at their job instead of just sending people to treatment 
because 9 out of 10 times I didn’t need to go to treatment I just needed to know what I could 
do in the community, I needed to know that I wasn’t alone. Treatment has its place and peer 
support has its place and I think right now we are in a place where peer support is more 
important than anything right now, for example, someone comes out of prison and he gets 
tied to a care coordinator and a peer support and no matter where he goes in the system he 
has those two people with him. I’ve see more results with that type of platform than anything 
because most of the time when people get out of prison and they have a plan, but having 
someone who is going to hold them accountable to that plan has not been there. I’ve seen 
people get out of detox and they have a plan then they get there and they get referred and 
nobody follows up. We are the hands and the feet in the street that are going to bring all the 
systems together I believe.    
 
Senator K. Roers: I know that your primary population is people who are coming out of the 
criminal justice system, with this expansion are there people that you feel you could have 
prevented going into the criminal justice system with a system like this? 
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Adam Martin: We are in a weird predicament right now because the money is going to the 
people already in the system and there are people that come to our office that are not a part 
of this program that we still provided service for but it’s just like everything that ive ever seen 
worked out is people go where the money is, and there are people that are not getting served 
that probably if they would have gotten services would have had a good result, most of the 
people who are coming through this program have a high LSI score they have a likelihood to 
reoffend well the reason F5 was created because there were a group of people in our 
community making our way to the homeless shelters that didn’t necessarily need all the 
spectrum of care that would go there. What happens when those beds fill up is the people 
who actually needed that full spectrum of care are not able to get there so now they are left 
being homeless. F5 came in and we took these people so that the shelters could focus on 
people who needed that higher level of care, right now with this system im seeing the same 
thing. I think the expansion of this would actually create a more spectrum of helping all people 
instead of a specific demographic.  
 
Senator Hogan: What kinds of concerns do you have with changing models of practice with 
such a significant and sometimes different behavior in the chronic nature of serious mental 
illness? 
 
Adam Martin: There's two different models of training that happen during the peer support 
training, I helped with the training on the substance abuse disorder and there's a mental 
health aspect to it as well because there's a spectrum for both substance abuse and mental 
health. Those people that have a mental health condition that don’t identify with alcoholics 
and addicts. They identify with the process but they can still go out and have drinks. That’s 
why I believe there needs to be two different models that are more adequate. I would love to 
see us expanding this and being able to recruit people who are more experience with the 
mental health side.  
 
(47:51-55:20) Captain Andrew R. Frobig, Jail Administrator for Cass County Sheriff’s 
Office. Testifying in favor of bill SB 2029. Please see Attachment #6 for written testimony.  
 
Senator Hogan: Will you briefly talk about the jail Chaplin relationships with your particular 
population? 
 
Captain Frobig: Our jails Chaplin association is a non-profit group based in Fargo. The 
people that can benefit from faith based support we make that available. We know that is not 
for everyone and I like have multiple tools to target whatever preference of support will work 
best for the individual. The jail Chaplin’s they come in and do 40 hours of programming a 
week within the jail. We have now expanded to an international program called living free, 
which is a set of course curriculum for integrating people in the community for life controlling 
problems. I think over 30 churches have groups up and running and they started doing those 
groups in the jail also for 7-8 weeks. These folks can start in the jail and when they get out 
we can now connect them to a group that will continue and help integrate them into continued 
support. One of the things that’s so remarkable about that program is that the commitment 
of the church deity went to the initial training and orientation and how they are able to identify. 
They start realizing I’m not different I just didn’t get caught doing something to the point of 
getting arrested and they can actually have a relationship where they relate to each other as 
people rather as criminals and congregations and they are embracing people getting out.  
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Senator O. Larsen: What’s the budgetary cost that you incurred on bringing in that program? 
 
Captain Forbig: My budgetary costs additional budget that I requested in 2018 and is 
ongoing, was the cost of two deputies. That was the only additional funds the we invested 
into this. We were faced with a situation where we were going to have to hire those deputies 
anyway to staff additional housing units. Over the course of this biennium all of these things 
were implemented when the biennium started our average head count was over 300 and 
now were are seeing about 230 a day. Jail counts are going down with this type of approach 
being used.     
 
Senator Anderson: How does the money flow to your program  
 
Captain Forbig: It does not flow to my program. We are currently not eligible for it because 
the people who are committed to the Cass County Jail are not on probation. The terms of 
probation actually changed a few months ago so they are now starting probation at the start 
of day one, for example if someone is sentenced to serve 6 months in the jail their probation 
also starts that day, however not everyone gets sentenced to probation. That’s the flaw in 
the existing system, is that someone must be on supervised probation or coming out of prison 
on supervised probation in order to qualify for the current model. If this process works, then 
to expand it to people who aren’t at that stage because that’s the end stage of criminal justice 
not the beginning. We took those principles and paid for it ourselves because we knew we 
couldn’t access the funding and we are showing remarkable results. I want to emphasize that 
rather than anecdotal examples to show you that if you give this money and make this 
process available to the public we are going to start impacting the number of people who are 
becoming justice involved, we are going to have better outcomes.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: You mentioned earlier that your cost is really only the cost of two 
deputies, but having reduced your average daily census the way you have, you’re also 
postponing any further plans to have to add additional jail beds. So I think mine and your 
county commissioners view this as an investment in something that was going to be money 
saving as well as people saving.  
 
Captain Forbig: When I first pitched this to our commissioner I had to go back a couple of 
times before they were ready to vote on it. Essentially I sold it like this, in order to run a 
housing unit that houses 48 people 24 hours a day I have to hire six full time staff to run that 
one unit. I can run at a ratio of 1:30 roughly on this program at any given time and we try to 
keep it lower if we can. As far as not willing to charge fees, I didn’t want the ability to pay to 
be a barrier. The cost of the GPS that’s really what keeps them in custody so we can always 
know where they’re at is within fifteen cents a day of the cost to feed them if they are in the 
jail so it was a wash, for everyone I get out on the program I don’t have to pay to feed them 
so that’s when the county decided to pick up that cost.  
Senator O. Larsen: If they are on the probation program, they can still have insurance. 
 
Captain Forbig: Yes, you are correct. Federal Medicaid dollars cannot be reimbursed for 
anyone that is physically incarcerated.  That’s why we try to get people enrolled into treatment 
programs because, for instance Prairie St. Johns has healthcare navigators that get people 
enrolled so that can be the funding for their treatment. Almost all of our prisoners don’t have 
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health insurance already and not many are eligible for Medicaid. The jail picks up the cost of 
their medical care while they are physically incarcerated so I see a savings there as well but 
we can actually get people enrolled that have them previously done.  
 
Senator Hogan: There were concerns for someone going in for a short time losing their 
Medicaid, do they have to reapply every time? 
 
Captain Forbig: That’s something I am not familiar with.  
 
(1:08:53) Krista Fremming, Deputy Director of Medicaid with the Department of Human 
Services  
 
Krista Fremming: It is not fixed yet, but plans are in the works. Im sure your familiar with the 
Spaces Eligibility System that our department has been working on for a few years now and 
with one of the upcoming releases of new technology it is planned to be fixed, but as of today 
it is not.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: But it is in the works? 
 
Krista Fremming: Yes. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Any more questions for Captain Forbig or anything else you would like 
to tell us? 
 
Captain Forbig: If there is one thing that I am not satisfied with is the numbers we have been 
serving. There are so many different variables that go into who we can actually provide 
service to and that’s simply because of this existing barriers in our system that we still need 
to address in the coming years. Someone who has warrants in another jurisdiction I can’t let 
them out, I have to hold them until that gets resolved and start working on technological 
advances. Medicaid assisted treatment for almost two years now have continued to provide 
Methadone to people who were already enrolled in our local clinic. We put North Dakota on 
the map as far as Vivitrol, we have been offering that now, and that’s a huge step but there 
are barriers there as well because there are only three communities in North Dakota where 
that’s available.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: When you guys get together for a convention, are there any other 
counties implementing this now and rolling forward? 
 
Captain Forbig: Each jurisdiction because of the way the bill was written. I was only able to 
create this particular program in Cass County because of the authorization that was granted, 
that told us you have to do something to manage your population and here are examples 
make a plan. Each jurisdiction though has to create a system based on what their own local 
resources are. There are sheriff departments in the state that only have four or five deputies 
and this type of thing isn’t going to work there. Devils Lake has taken a little bit of a different 
approach; they are running a half-way house ran by the county.  
 
(1:13:20) Madam Chair Lee: Adam would you be willing to step back up and respond to 
some questions? 
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Adam Martin: Can you repeat the question from earlier Senator Anderson? 
 
Senator Anderson: How does the money flow to your program and do you get reimbursed? 
How does that work? 
 
Adam Martin: For every participant that we provide care for we receive 400 dollars, if we hit 
all the pillars we can have a performance based incentive of another 80 dollars. I pay salary 
so it’s not performance based for the most part, I am working out one with one individual who 
works with me having more of a performance based salary to see how that works in 
comparison to people making the same salary no matter what. I may replicate this across the 
board because its creating better care. I have seen performance based models work. Twin 
Cities Rise in Minnesota lowered recidivism from 80% to 20% in three years based on 
performance based models. I don’t do that right now, but that is something that I may be 
interested in doing in the future.  
 
Senator Hogan: The 400 dollars does that cover both care coordinator and peer support 
specialist? 
 
Adam Martin: I have not worked out the numbers. I know how important peer support is, this 
program would not work without peer support because care coordinators are essentially just 
like case managers where they check the boxes. We are working on an F5 project where our 
case managers also have lived experience so it’s kind of a hybrid approach, but so far it’s 
going well.  
 
Senator Hogan: So your 400 dollars is kind of a bundled rate? 
 
Adam Martin: Yes it is, the thing about this is its created incentive with other care 
coordinators and treatment centers to want to contract with F5, currently we are in the works 
with having contracts with Prairie St. Johns and Share House to provide peer support for 
people that are coming out of their institutions which by far for me is a game changer and 
should be sought out.  
 
(1:16:54-1:17:18) Robin Lang, Assistant Director in the Office of Safe and Healthy 
Schools with the Department of Public Instruction. Testifying in favor of SB 2029. Written 
testimony is as follows. 
 
Robin Lang: I would like to go on record and say that the department supports this bill and 
the efforts of DHS to expand Free Through Recovery in our communities across the state. 
 
(1:17:32-1:21:15) Emma Quinn,  
 
Emma Quinn: I became involved with F5 by going to the peer support training. I live with a 
mental illness, specifically Bipolar 2. I have never been a part of the criminal justice system, 
I do not have an addiction problem, but I do navigate the mental health system. I have been 
doing it since I was 12 years old and I have lost family to suicide as well. So to tell you about 
the big gap in the system is an understatement, specifically navigating the system. I became 
so passionate and involved in this because peer support and care coordinators are that 
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bridge. When entering the mental health system, you go to one appointment then another, 
and unlike addiction you don’t talk about it. Once you leave in or out patient treatment, you 
go back to your psychiatrist and therapist, but I don’t think we understand what an urgency 
there is to fill those gaps. When I moved to the Fargo area I had already done outpatient 
treatment however, I needed to manage my medication. I could not get into a provider in 
Fargo, ND with the best insurance on the planet for over four and a half months. I therapy at 
Prairie St. Johns, when I received a letter in the mail that they would no longer be serving me 
and I was left to my own devices. I then had to wait another six months to see a provider. I’m 
only here in front of you all today because I have been successful in my treatment but that’s 
because I had to fight myself. It’s because I had an amazing support system at home, but I 
am once again alone. In fact, as I faced a very challenging situation yesterday I thought to 
myself I could really use a peer support. A lot of the time all we need is someone to talk to. 
A peer support is not going to solve your mental illness but it will make it more manageable.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Closes the hearing on SB 2029.  
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Madam Chair Lee: This is the one that we had a bunch of local testimony. Okay SB 2029 is 
a community behavioral health program.  
 
Senator Anderson: It seems like last time we passed 7 million dollars to the Department of 
Corrections to do this for their population 
 
Madam Chair Lee: We did. 
 
Senator Anderson: Now this is almost identical to move it out to the rest of the population 
is that my understanding.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Yes, it is.  
 
Senator Anderson: And then the Department of Corrections the governor had some money 
to continue I think 4.5 million or something like that to continue the program with the 
Department of Corrections. So this would make a similar program available to the rest of the 
population.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Right, the governor asked for 4.5 million but it’s in the Department of 
Human Services now and not the Department of Corrections.  
 
Senator Anderson: I did have some questions about why the additional FTE was necessary 
to develop a new program for the health and human services when we already developed 
one for the Department of Corrections and why they couldn’t just adopt what the Department 
of Corrections have done and the guidelines and so forth. I didn’t understand Pam Sagness 
answer to my question about that.  
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Madam Chair Lee: Well corrections didn’t really do it, Pam Sagness and Lisa Peterson 
developed it for the corrections department so it was in corrections because if it wasn’t in that 
budget we were going to have a harder time getting it through. Even though it dealt with 
people who are incarcerated we had originally started out as you recall with a separate 
behavioral health budget and we moved it over as the process moved forward. So its not a 
bad question, now it was originally 7 million dollars for 3 pilots and we would like to roll it out 
statewide.  
 
Senator Hogan: They did roll it out statewide.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Your right, so they’ve got it everywhere.  
 
Senator Hogan: I think your question about can we just expand what we are currently doing 
in corrections with this new population, well much of like the F5 Program, most of them are 
really focused on the corrections population and we might have many different population 
groups so that building those community relationships might be all new. It might be a 
homeless shelter that does it now because this is a different population or a jail that hasn’t 
worked with the current Free Through Recovery. It might be a whole new group of providers.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: We can ask Pam Sagness.  
 
Senator K. Roers: When I look at my notes it says 6 FTE’s.  
 
Senator Hogan: The 6 FTE’s are the case managers to do the care coordination. So those 
care coordinators in Free Through Recovery are state employees.  
 
Senator K. Roers: If I remember correctly the question that Senator Anderson was asking 
was more about why do we need to create the rules all over again when the rule already 
exist. Some of the rules will still apply we just need to make sure that it fits the new model.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: I just wrote myself a note to ask Pam Sagness for a little review for this, 
and if they can do it tomorrow afternoon because their budget is in front of appropriations 
next week 16th-18th. So Monday and Tuesday would be the last two days we can see them.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: As we are discussing that page. 2 lines 10 and 11 about the full time 
equivalent positions I do remember Adam Martin was standing up there and I know he was 
a peer support or whatever and he was saying he could handle 20 people on his case load, 
I still have reservations about the full time folks on here.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Those are community supporters; this isn’t just peer support stuff.  
  
Senator Hogan: Free Through Recovery they’re the care coordinators.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: I thought Adam Martin does some care coordination as well but he said 
if he did peer support he could do 20. 
 
Senator O. Larsen: I know they are asking for these folks and I know that its needed but we 
have to know it’s a huge lift to continue to have people coming on board 



Senate Human Services Committee  
SB 2029 
1/8/2019 
Page 3  
   

 
Senator Anderson: I wonder if we just take out the FTE’s and leave the money in there and 
program and let them figure it out or ask the appropriations committee for the FTE’s so that 
we aren’t specifying that right in this bill. I like the success that we have had with the program 
so I think we did a lot with the 7 million dollars that we had in the Department of Corrections, 
I think we could do similarly, not sure in this bill we need to specify how many FTE’s they are 
authorized for. I think we can let them fight that battle between the governor and the 
appropriations committee  
 
Madam Chair Lee: If we take the FTE’s out of here, it’s going to be a big lift to get 6 FTE’s 
back in but if we leave the 6 FTE’s in and the appropriations committee decides they can’t 
deal with 6 FTE’s and reduces it to 4 we are still ahead of where we are now and they can 
duke it out with the department on that side. I do not believe in bailing out as you’ve heard 
me say before and sending stuff over to their committee to kill or get rid of it because we find 
it too hard to decide but it seems to me also if it indicates that we recognize there may be 
some staffing needs here, it’s no question they are going to be doing a lot of chatting about 
the FTE’s. 
 
Senator Hogan: Is there a fiscal note on this? 
 
Madam Chair Lee: It’s an appropriation not a fiscal note.  
 
Senator Hogan: So maybe we leave the money in as is and they can contract with a private 
agency to do the staffing. Make it contractors instead of state employees.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: So your saying to just take the FTE’s out? 
 
Senator Hogan: I’m okay with taking the FTE’s out.  
 
Senator Clemens: I would like to make a motion.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: May I say one thing before you do? And that is do you want to refer in 
some way to enable them to contract the service not just talking about to FTE’s.  
 
Senator Hogan: Madam Chair, look at line 19. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: There you are. OK. I’m much more comfortable.  
 
Senator K. Roers: When I see that though I read that as the actually providers of the care  
 
Senator Hogan: It could be the care coordinator.  
 
Senator K. Roers: I’m sure their intent was possibly (inaudible) 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Senator Clemens what is your motion? 
 
Senator Clemens: I move that on Line 10, on Page 2, Beginning with “The Department”, we 
strike Line 10 and Line 11. 
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Seconded by Senator O. Larsen  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Any discussion on that? If not, will the clerk please call the roll.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE TAKEN: 
6 YEA, 0 NAY, 0 ABSENT  
ADOPT AMENDMENT 
 
Senator Anderson: I move a DO PASS, AS AMENDED, REREFER TO 
APPROPRIATIONS.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: If we are getting rid of the 6 people I would be open to striking on Line 
8, the 1.7 and leave the 5250. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: But that’s federal funds, you don’t want to get rid of those. That’s the 
match. That’s OPM (Other people’s money). We do have a motion from Senator Anderson, 
DO PASS, AS AMENDED, REREFER TO APPROPRIATIONS  

 
Madam Chair Lee: Is there a second to that motion.  
Seconded by Senator Hogan 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Is there any discussion on that motion? Will the clerk please call the roll.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE TAKEN: 
5 YEA, 1 NAY, 0 ABSENT 
DO PASS, AS AMENDED, REREFER TO APPROPRIATIONS 
SENATOR ANDERSON WILL CARRY THE BILL TO THE FLOOR 
 
Senator O. Larsen: Madam Chair can I give a little clarification? 
 
Madam Chair Lee: You bet.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: So now, this will come up to the floor and it will be just re-referred to 
appropriations and then melded and come back or will it go to the floor and be voted on to 
pass and then re-referred to appropriations and then we will see it again? 
 
Madam Chair Lee: We won’t see it again but it will be on the calendar again so you watch 
to see if it comes up.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: I may vote against the bill as it goes over but if it comes back with the 
money massaged in it then I would support the bill.   
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Madam Chair Lee: Pam could you tell us a little about the FTE’s that we amended out.  
 
Pam Sagness: There was one other item that you had asked for that I have here today 
which is the glossary for the terms and acronyms for DHS.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: How wonderful.  
 
Pam Sagness: So one of the things that I wanted to discuss is just the structure of how the 
FTR (Free Through Recovery) program works. One of the questions was about relating to 
difference between when we have contractors or partnerships versus when we had the 
request for the FTE’s or those positions. The FTR program was originally planned to pilot in 
three regions in the state but we had statewide implementation. We currently have seven 
FTE’s. One of them is in the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation and six of them 
in the Department of Human Services. Those positions are located in the regions and they 
are administrators that oversee all of the outcomes from the program. I just wanted to make 
sure I talked about what their role is. There are not six positions in Bismarck, there are six 
positions located in the regions across the state. We had decreased from eight down to six 
and we have shared regions right now, for example with the current FTR program regions 
one and two (Williston and Minot) they have one shared administrator. Their job is very 
specific to a few key things, one is recruiting programs as you guys know FTR is a new 
program so when we started there were no FTR programs and no one providing the care 
coordination specifically to what we are looking for. I know that in regions one and two that 
regional administrator spends a fair amount of time doing community engagement trying, to 
get providers on board, securing the MOU (memorandum of understanding) between the 
program and that provider and so they do a lot of that work. They are also required every 
month to reconcile the data between the provider and the probation officer. If you recall one 
of the key things about the FTR program is that payment is based on outcomes, so every 
month we have to look at those four key indicators and make sure individuals are meeting 
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those outcomes but of course we can’t just say the providers told us the outcomes are 
good because then they get incentive pay. What we have to do is reconcile the outcome 
measures that we get from the provider and we have probation officers that do the exact 
same thing to measure that participant for that month so those FTE’s are very specific to 
doing administration they’re not the contractors doing the direct service so in the bill it 
talked about we can contract for services, we do that. All of the providers and the services 
provided through the FTR program are with contracted providers. We have MOU’s with 
more than 25 different programs that are providing that service but if we have no staff to 
administer the program we can’t do an outcome based model because there are no ability 
for us to reconcile some of that data, do the community engagement, get the providers, and 
then manage all the of the contracts that we have with the providers. I think there is a big 
difference between six FTE’s and zero. I can honestly say that at this time we would not be 
able to administer the program with zero FTE’s. We have currently as you know, we did the 
same thing with the substance use disorder voucher which we began with no FTE and we 
have had many programs that have not lifted of the ground because we have had to divert 
our staff into managing and running the substance use disorder voucher for 1,800 people 
which is amazing but we just don’t have the resource to have zero. I just wanted to share 
that information and explain the difference the service provider and having that outcome 
based model.  
 
(5:04) Madam Chair Lee: Now in the last budget two years ago, I believe there was a 
deduction of 32 FTE’s in the department compared to the, I think your back to like 2012 or 
something. How many FTE’s are in the governor budget this time and is it a gain or a loss 
or a hold even? 
 
Pam Sagness: If we could, Chris Jones is here and maybe he could speak on the FTE’s 
because he would have the global picture that I don’t.  
 
(5:40) Chris Jones, Director of the Department of Human Services 
 
Chris Jones: The initial budget that we submitted to the governor’s office was 108 FTE 
reduction on top of our previously allocated FTE’s about 1932. I don’t have the exact 
numbers in front of me what the governor did add back but I want to say it was 
approximately 48 if I’m counting this correctly that did get added back which included all of 
the FTR as well as the Mobile Crisis Units of 27 and there's a couple of other FTE’s in other 
places in the governor’s budget request.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: So what are the places that are losing and how are you going to do it 
when you didn’t exactly have a lot of staff in there before. 
 
Chris Jones: Well, we are looking at still within the human service centers in reducing 
administrative positions within there. There are six FTE’s that are within child support as we 
continue to consolidate that work and create a call center. For instance, even bringing 
CHIP in house was a reduction of about a half a FTE so it’s really across the department.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: A lot of them I hear you say is from part of the reorganization that is 
being done so that it isn’t creating a hardship in providing services, it’s a difference in the 
way the service is being provided administratively.  
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Chris Jones: Correct.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: In most cases but not all.  
 
Chris Jones: In most cases not all. I would also say we still have areas within DHS that as 
we get better at delivering service specifically the human and social services like we talked 
about today, we will find administrative duplication. There are other parts of DHS that are 
still understaffed based on the tools that we have. Behavioral Health and I would also say 
the Medical Services is one. 
 
(8:27) Senator K. Roers: So you started with 108 then added back 48 so were at net 60.  
 
Chris Jones: Yes, something like that, let me get that exact number to you. We are still 
preparing budget testimony for the rest of the week. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: The main thing was the FTE thing and need to talk about how we are 
going to deal with that.  
 
Senator Hogan: Should we move to consider our vote on senate.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Well the amendment has been prepared so we would have to have it 
returned, but we could have a floor amendment. Visiting with a couple of the appropriations 
members, they understand what the issue is for us here. Just an expediency point of view 
and seeing it move forward I guess I would like to re-discuss some of the things as a result 
of what Ms. Sagness and Mr. Jones have said and we may not have a unanimous following 
on the whole thing but I think we might have a little different perspective and see if we 
might want to do something different, so that would be the question I guess. We are talking 
about SB 2029 in case you did not know what bill we were discussing.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: I heard Senator K. Roers say they are looking at 60 employees to 
reinstated.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: No, to be reduced. The net reduction is 60.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: With the new legislation and bills this session that we are seeing. How 
many new FTE’s with the combined issue that we are listening to now and the Department 
of Health and Behavioral Health how many positions are we looking at? I just want a total of 
that. 
 
Pam Sagness: There were six in the FTR program there was one in the targeted case 
management which you also had already heard which is SB 2031. There had been in the 
interim bill there was an FTE in one of the bills that you will be hearing tomorrow which is 
the continuation of the HSRI. We did not request an FTE with that instead we would 
continue to contract with HSRI so that’s the one discrepancy for the bill that you will be 
hearing tomorrow is that we did not include an FTE within the governor’s budget but there 
is an FTE in the interim.  
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Senator K. Roers: I just want to make sure I understand, the six and the one FTE’s are 
they inclusive in that 48 that were added back by the governor. It’s not 60 plus seven its 60 
with the seven? I just wanted to make sure.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: No, thank you for clarifying.  
 
Pam Sagness: Chris is pulling up the exact numbers right now from our budget. The cuts 
of the 109 and then the 6 and the 1 for targeted case management and any of those 
additional ones that were in our OAR’s those are part of those 40 some. So we will still 
have that total of reduction of 60 or so and that’s what Chris is looking up.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: I think it may make some us more comfortable with the idea that there 
are efficiencies there taking place and that our goal of moving forward will be enhanced by 
what we hope to start as a result of the mornings work.  
 
Pam Sagness: One of the things they consider is that in order to have an effective 
outcome based program there has to be oversight and we have to be able to reconciliation 
of the measures so with no administration, even though im all about contracting services 
whenever we can, we contract most of our data services, we contract out the HSRI. The 
majority of the additional work we do we do through contracts and not through additional 
resource with staff but there has to be someone internally that can even do those contracts 
or oversee those contracts and right now those are regional positions. So those are 
positions working in your home regions and not people sitting in Bismarck.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Well you can’t just contract with someone and bring them in it seems to 
me. You got to have someone who has expertise or would be able to slide into position.  
 
Senator Anderson: I think we felt like going to the appropriations committee and trying to 
talk to them about the FTE’s and it might work better than sending the bill to appropriations 
with FTE’s when there are some people there who count FTE’s. They don’t look at what the 
program could be about. I think that was part of our concern is that they might just throw us 
out because of the FTE’s. I think we understand where you are coming from and I don’t 
think we ever thought that you were going to be able to contract out everything but we just 
thought it might be easier for us if you negotiated with the appropriations committee instead 
of us.  
 
Senator Hogan: The current FTR also has that probation role and this because it’s all 
community based is in some ways in more need of the staff under direct supervision 
because you don’t have the two step comparison you’re going to have to have that strong 
administrative management piece at the regional level. Does that make sense? 
 
Pam Sagness: To add not only would we be required to do that but the seventh position 
the we did not request, that’s currently in the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, 
they do all admissions and discharges. We will also be taking on the full responsibility of 
that seventh position to ensure that the people of the program meet the criteria. We do not 
request that seventh position because we did feel like we could reasonably manage with 
the six FTE’s across the state but they will be taking on that additional duty.  
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Madam Chair Lee: Any other questions for Pam Sagness on this issue? 
 
Pam Sagness: Just to note that we are still working on the amendment for the mental 
health voucher. That’s the one thing that I didn’t have completed to bring back today. 
 
(16:28-end of recording) Madam Chair Lee discusses bills that she is introducing and 
asks the committee members if anyone would sign on. While discussing those bills, one of 
the bills about the 1915i Medicaid state plan amendment and Pam Sagness gave an 
overview of that for the committee. The committee has a brief discussion of whether or not 
they should consider writing an amendment to restore some if not all of the FTE’s now 
knowing how they would be used in the administration and the implementation of the 
program and discussed the possibilities of either introducing a floor amendment to restore 
the FTE’s or Introduce the bill in appropriations without the FTE’s and explain why they 
were taken out and why they should be restored. In absence of the intern the clerk was 
asked to contact Samantha Kramer and ask about drafting an amendment restoring the 
FTE’s. At the end of the discussion Chris Jones provides the exact number of FTE’s that 
were added back to the budget which was 64 in total.  
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Chairman Holmberg called the committee to order on SB 2029.  Roll call was taken. 
 
Senator Kathy Hogan, District 21, Fargo, ND  
Testimony Attached # 1 
Testimony Attached # 2 – Proposed amendments  
 
(8:23) Chairman Holmberg: Informed the audience that we have the hearing and then the 
sub-committee looks at these bills.  The Sub-committee that is handling the budget of the 
Department of Human Services, SB 2012: Senators Dever, Erbele, and Mathern and they 
will be looking at this series of bills that are coming in over the next couple of days just to see 
how they fit in where the duplication is and just make it seamless before we decide what 
we’re going to do.   
 
(9:55) Senator Mathern: What is your committee have as an intent in terms of how many 
people would be served and where would they be served in this state?  
 
(10:00) Senator Hogan: I think based on the experience with Free Through Recovery, that 
project originally was to be a be pilot project in three regions. The way it was implemented is 
its been implemented state wide. So I think that with this funding and this model we could 
implement this statewide using the kind of model that we’ve used through Free Through 
Recovery.   I will defer that to Ms. Sagness.   We are serving more people than we anticipated 
and we’re also serving people all over the state so it’s a model that is not simple but available 
to small rural communities as well as urban communities.    
 



Senate Appropriations Committee  
SB 2029 Comm. Behavioral Health 
January 23, 2019 
Page 2  
   

Senator Dever: There is currently $7M in DOCR budget for Free Through Recovery and the 
governor recommended $4.5 Million dollars to broaden that other populations. This bill is 
$7M, is this in addition to or in place of, probably the $4.5M?   
 
Senator Hogan: In the Governor’s budget?  (Answer – yes.)  We did this before the governor 
did his budget and so this is what we felt was the need, to run based on the feedback we got 
particularly from local jails and so we thought it should be about the same size as the 
corrections. So I don’t know quite where the governor’s budget is, but it is the same money.  
 
Senator Dever: But in either case, we should consider this separate and apart from the 
DOCR funding?  
 
Senator Hogan: Yes. This is different from the DOCR. 
 
Senator Dever: You’ve got five million two hundred fifty thousand in general fund and one 
million seven hundred fifty of special funds. What is the source of those?  
 
Senator Hogan: I think that would be Medicaid match, available matching dollars. Ms. 
Sagness can answer that question better than I can. 
 
Senator Dever: So then would the services only be available to people who are Medicaid 
eligible?  
 
Senator Hogan: No. That’s why it’s not a 50/50 match, recognizing that some won’t be.  
 
(12:40-17:42) Pam Sagness, Director, Behavioral Health, North Dakota Dept. of Human 
Services 
Testimony Attached # 3 – Free Through Recovery 
 
(14:49) – Drawing to attached #3. Meant to help people in rural areas.  
 
(18:11) Senator Mathern: Would you operate these programs as just one program or are 
we going to get another name for another program when they are the same services? 
 
Pam Sagness: So we actually believe that it would be important to rebrand. One of the things 
that is very different is in the Free to Recovery program, as it currently is, for example, we 
have peer support specialists who have sexual offenses. That makes sense when you’re 
looking for peers who are in the criminal justice system. Some of those components would 
not be appropriate if we were doing the same model and dealing with Child Protective 
Services. So we do believe that it would be important that the program be rebranded and 
have a different target. The Jail Diversion component maybe a closer match, but if we’re 
going to be looking at treating families and children and doing in home connections I think 
it’s important that we recognize that some of that wouldn’t be appropriate. 
 
Senator Mathern: Do you have a name yet for it?  
 
Pam Sagness: We don’t. 
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(20:40) Sidney McCorvey, Peer Support Specialist, Bismarck/Mandan, North Dakota 
Testimony Attached # 4 in support of SB 2029. 
 
(25:38) Jennifer Horning, Face It Together, Free Through Recovery, Bismarck/Mandan, 
North Dakota  
Testimony Attached # 5 in support of SB 2029. 
 
(30:58) Senator Wanzek: You said your client just got a job. Sidney, I don’t remember if he 
said in his testimony that he has a job, but, what kind of hurdles and I am assuming that it’s 
difficult for somebody in their position coming out of prison, or seeking recovery and finding 
a job. Does your help include that process in helping them find a job? 
 
Jennifer Horning: Yes, it does actually. The big part of what we do is help connect 
individuals to different places, taking them to Job Service to fill out applications. We utilize a 
program, Community Options, to help those with more severe behavioral health issues, brain 
trauma. They are an organization in the community to helps me help my client find jobs that 
are fitting for their needs. So it’s a very big part of what we do is helping to find employment. 
You are out in the community to kind of learning of places that give second chances because 
that is difficult too to find places that will hire folks with felony backgrounds. So that is one of 
the number one things that we help individuals do. 
 
Senator Dever: If every peer support is capable like you, then this is quite a program. I 
suspect really there is a difference in the way different people approach it. I am curious 
though, how you might see the delivery of peer support services, to now the expanded 
population, as compared to what you’ve been doing?  
 
Jennifer Horning: As a part of something we already do, I think it’s just going to benefit. I 
used to be a Human Services Director, for Benson County, so I can see where developing it 
into the CPS system, helping families connect again with their children. There’s many 
children that get removed from homes that really if parents were able to utilize services and 
had peer support from high care coordinators, this would be a tremendous opportunity for 
them. It would be a great success. Again it’s just about eliminating the shame and stigma. I 
really do see as I have this position, is these folks sometimes run into walls and need 
someone to help you – keep calm as you are frustrated when you’re constantly said no, no. 
It’s just been phenomenal. So I think with these folks to in working with parents that have 
been in the system so to speak, if someone were there to really help hold their hand and 
answer questions and connect them, it would just be an amazing opportunity. I think we 
would see some wonderful outcomes.  We see how we can Segway this into other areas. 
We do it already and face it together and just helping people in the community.  
 
(34:20) Senator Oehlke: In Devil’s Lake, I noticed a couple of vans going around town and 
the name on the van was Recovery Appliance. I thought, this is cool, this business recovers 
old appliances and fixes them up, only to find out after I went to a meeting of Free to Recovery 
that Recovery Appliance employs people who are in recovery. The owner of the business 
has gone through recovery and understands it, so there are opportunities out there for even 
businesses to thrive. It helps provide a service.  I have not run into anyone in the community 
who is nervous about having someone who is in recovery, come into their home and work 
and repair or fix an appliance that is need of repair. It’s a wonderful opportunity and it’s doing 
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a great job, and I’m not even sure how many employees there are, but there are quite a few.     
They’re taking advantage of a situation where there aren’t people to hire. You can’t call Sears 
and have them fix your Kenmore because they don’t exist. It is a perfect opportunity for 
someone to take advantage and give back and provide the service too. 
 
(36:27) Matthew McCleary - (Reading testimony by Carlotta McCleary for Mental Health 
Advocacy Network.)   
Carlotta McCleary, Executive Director, Mental Health America of North Dakota & North 
Dakota Federation of Families for Children’s Mental Health. 
Testimony Attached # 6. Mental Health Advocacy Network (MHAN) in support of SB 2029. 
 
(39:43) Senator Dever: As we’ve talked about the opioid crisis, I’ve made three points. The 
first point is that government can’t fix it. Second point is that as acute as the opioid crisis is 
there has never been a better time to deal with it than right now. The third point is that as bad 
as the opioid crisis is, alcohol is much worse. So as we talk about Peer to Peer and we talk 
about funding, would you agree with me that it’s kind of fine line between what the 
governments’ role should be and what peer to peer support should be?  The reason I say 
government can’t fix it, is it’s a people thing. 
 
(40:38) Matthew Mc Cleary: I think there is a lot of overlap in those fundamental beliefs. 
There probably is a limit to what government can or cannot do; and we need to build a peer 
support workforce because individuals with lived experience sometimes are better equipped 
to address a number of the concerns that people with mental illness or other behavioral health 
conditions may face. Of course we would also note that, there is significant need for services 
in our community which largely would be funded through government programs but we also 
encourage the private sector to also be able to step up as well. We largely do agree. 
 
(42:05) Emma Quinn, Fargo, North Dakota, advocating for Peer Support. 
Testimony Attached # 7 in support of SB 2029. 
 
(55:36) Richard Pallay III, Peer Support Specialist, Gambler’s Choice 
Testimony Attached # 8 support of SB 2029. 
 
(1:00:35) Dr. Lisa Peterson, Clinical Director with the Department of Corrections and 
Rehabilitations. No written testimony. In support of SB 2029. 
I just wanted to speak to the point about concerns around Peer Support Specialists not 
getting paid.  That is something that is very important to me in terms of making sure that is a 
service that is recognized and valued for what it offers to our clients. I did want to add that 
not everyone shares my belief and I think that is okay. There are some agencies who are 
working with Free through Recovery who are relying on a model of volunteerism because 
that is their belief system and that’s what works for their agency. There are others who are 
working from more of an Alcoholics Anonymous model and one of the tenants of that model 
is to give back and not expect anything in return. So, from where I am at, I can speak for Pam 
too, that as long as there are paid opportunities available, if people chose to do this work and 
do it in a way that is rooted in volunteerism I think that is a great thing and I think that’s 
something that can continue. One of the other major strengths of this model is that as you’ve 
heard from the people who spoke today, its’ really rooted in building rapport and relationships 
with people who are rooted in the community and are successful in recovery themselves or 
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who are serving as care coordinators. Those relationships can continue after the person’s 
formal participation in the program has ended. If we are not funding the program participation 
anymore but the person has a concern or relapse, our hope is that they would feel 
comfortable calling those folks that they built relationships with and getting linked back up to 
whatever services they might need.   
 
Chairman Holmberg: Monday’s hearing is on the certification of Peer Support. Are you 
testifying at that point or would you tell us that you’re for it so that you don’t have to come 
back? 
 
Dr. Lisa Peterson: I hadn’t planned on testifying, but I am absolutely in support of that. 
 
(1:03:04) Gerry Teevens, Special Education Director, North Dakota Department of 
Public Instruction.  
No written testimony. T 
The department supports this bill. We support the efforts of the Department of Human 
Services to improve services in the community where our schools are located, and we also 
support that Free Through Recovery model.  
 
Chairman Holmberg: Closed the hearing on SB 2029. 
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☒ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk:   Alice Delzer  

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
 A Subcommittee hearing during the DHS (SB 2012) hearing regarding SB 2029 for 
implementation of a community behavioral health program (Do Not Pass) 
 

Minutes:                                                 No testimony submitted  

 
Senator Dever: opened the subcommittee hearing on SB 2029 during the subcommittee 
hearing on SB 2012 in the pm on 02-14-19. Senator Erbele and Senator Mathern were also 
present.  Brady Larson, Legislative Council and Stephanie Gullickson, OMB were also 
present.  
 
Senator Dever: is talking about other funds and part of the general funds.  Should the 4 ½M 
be broken down? 
 
Pam Sagness, Director of Behavioral Health Dept. in DHS: There must have been an 
error at some point or else there was some other intention I don’t know from the interim bill.  
 
Senator Dever: I asked and they thought there was Medicaid money in there or money for 
Medicaid eligible patients.  
 
Pam:  Perhaps.  The FTR program, what we proposed in the executive budget is 100% 
general fund because it’s outcome based reimbursement.  
 
Senator Dever: So then the recommendation would be to move the 41/2 and the 6 FTEs 
into the budget (of SB 2012) and we could dispatch the bill.  That was correct.  
 
Senator Erbele Moved a Do Not Pass.   2nd by Senator Mathern.  
 
Senator Dever: We got a motion and a second on SB 2029 for a Do Not Pass 
recommendation.  Call the roll on a Do Not Pass. 
 
Senator Mathern: We will still put into SB 2012.  That was confirmed.  
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Senator Dever: This will also have to be recorded in the minutes in the subcommittee 
minutes in SB 2012.  
 
A Roll Call vote was taken.  Yea: 3; Nay: 0; Absent: 0.  Motion carried. 
  
Senator Dever: Do we want to go back to the budget (in SB 2012) right away or do we want 
to dispose of a couple more bills and then deal with them together.  
 
Senator Mathern: I’d just as soon we put that money now into SB 2012 lest we forget.  
 
The hearing was closed on SB 2029.     
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☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk:  Alice Delzer  

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
 A BILL for DHS regarding Implementation of a Community Behavioral Health Program (Do 
Not Pass)  
 

Minutes:                                                 "Click to enter attachment information."  

 
Chairman Holmberg: Called the Committee to order on SB 2026. All committee members 
were present. Adam Mathiak, Legislative Council and Becky Deichert, OMB were also 
present.  
Chairman Holmberg: We’re following the model we did two years ago, when we had that 
duplicative series of bills, they were all Appropriation bills and the rules do not allow for that, 
but the rules are suspendable.  So last time, what happened is we brought 25 bills up to the 
floor, the motion was Senator Klein moved to suspend Joint Rule 206 through the 17 th 
legislative day, which motion prevailed, and then the second reading of Senate bills on the 
consent calendar for all 24 votes went as one vote and we were done.  My understanding 
according to talking to John Bjornson this morning is we can in committee have a motion that 
we would list the bills that we are putting on the consent calendar for a Do Not Pass and then 
we would vote on that, one vote, and then they would go up on the consent calendar.  If you 
recall, we also have two bills in there that had been signed and they had to do with the 
Attorney General’s budget that the items were folded into the budget.  So, before we do it we 
need to have someone from the committee move that we do a Do Not Pass and place these 
bills on the consent calendar, as these bills are now duplicative to SB 2012. 
The list is as follows:  
 
SB 2026 - Do Not Pass – Improving Mental Health Services  
SB 2028 - Do Not Pass -  Behavioral Health Prevention & Early Intervention Services 
SB 2029 - Do Not Pass – Implementation of Community Behavioral Health Program 
SB 2030 - Do Not Pass -  Relating to State’s Behavioral Health System  
SB 2031 - Do Not Pass -  Targeted Case Management Services   
SB 2032 - Do Not Pass -  Peer Support Specialist Certification  
SB 2168 - Do Not Pass -  Adjustments to QSP Rates  
SB 2175 - Do Not Pass -  Substance Use Disorder Treatment Voucher System 
SB 2298 - Do Not Pass -  1915(i) Medicaid State Plan Amendment for Children    
SB 2242 - Do Not Pass – Grants to children’s advocacy centers.      
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Chairman Holmberg: Committee members you may think when the budget comes it is rich, 
but the bottom line is they are putting the entire issues regarding these bills on the same 
table. If someone would make the following motion that the Appropriations Committee put a 
Do Not Pass and place on the consent calendar.  
 
 V. Chairman Wanzek: Moved a Do Not Pass and place on the consent calendar on the 
afore-mentioned bills.  2nd by V. Chairman Krebsbach.  
 
Chairman Holmberg: Call the roll on a Do Not Pass and place them on the consent calendar 
on the afore-mentioned bills.  
 
A Roll Call vote was taken.  Yea: 14:   Nay: 0; Absent: 0.           
 
Chairman Holmberg:  I did talk to John in Legislative Council and if the front desk has a 
problem have them call up to Legislative Council and they will say it is fine.  I Will carry the 
consent calendar.    
 
Senator Dever: This will be on Monday but SB 2012 will be on Tuesday.   
 
Chairman Holmberg: The only other thing with this is, keep in mind that any senator has 
the right to pull a bill off the consent calendar and have a debate on this.  the two from the 
Attorney General are already on the consent calendar.  This will just join them. I believe there 
are two more bills that you passed, SB 2106 and SB 2191, Let’s hear about them. (These 
bills were assigned to new jobs.)   
 
 The hearing was closed.    
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TESTIMONY 

Senate Human Services Committee 
SB 2029 

January 7, 2019 
Senator Kathy Hogan 

Chairman Lee and members of the Senate Human Service Committee, my name is Kathy 
Hogan, and I represent District 21 the heart of Fargo. 

Over the next several days, our committee will be hearing five bills related to behavioral 
health, many of which directly relate to the HSRI study. Attached is a summary of those 
bills that you may use as a reference document. 

In the previous biennium the Interim committee monitored the implementation and 
success of the Free through Recovery collaboration between ND Department of 
Corrections, the ND Department of Human Services and many local community partners. 

Free Through Recovery participants work with local providers to receive: 
Care Coordination: Includes an ongoing source of connection, helping 
participants' access treatment and recovery support services, and creatively 
addressing barriers to individual success. It also includes the provision of 
assessment, care planning, referrals, and monitoring collaboration with clinical 
services and probation and parole; 
Recovery Services: Includes access to supportive housing, educational 
opportunities, meaningful employment, leisure activities and wellness, family 
and community social supports, parenting education, spiritual engagement, 
nourishment assistance programs, and any other individualizedresources 
needed to help participants lead a healthy and fulfilling life; 
Peer Support: Connection with a peer who has similar lived experience. Peer 
support specialists provide mentorship, advocacy and additional recove1y suppmt. 



For additional information, please see the DHS website 

https://www.behavioralhealth.nd.gov/addiction/free-through-recovery 
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One of the primary concerns we heard during the interim legislative session was that this 
program is only accessible to individuals already deeply in-bedded in the state 
corrections system. One of the current requirements is that participants need to be 
involved with the ND Department of Cmi-ections, either incarcerated or on probation or 
parole. 

SB 2029 is designed to broaden the eligibility of Free Through Recovery Program to 
include individuals incarcerated through local county jails. potentially to pre--trial 
diversion, pre-sentence situations and other high risk individuals such as those 
involved in child welfare services 

The budget of this bill is based on the first biennium's Free Through Recovery 
experience because many of the core infrastructure pieces of this process are 
already in place such as peer support and case management. This was originally seen 
as simply a broadening of that system. 

I should note that the Governor's budget has similar recommendations of this model 
and if we were to pass this policy recommendation forward, the Appropriations 
committee will address any similarities and differences in the budget during their 
discussions. 

Thank you Madam Chair, I would be more than willing to answer any questions. 

HSRI Goals: 3,4,6,9,10,11,12,13 
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Bills recommended by the Interim Human Service Committee to address the Behavioral Health 
Crisis based on HSRI Study and testimony. 

SB 2028 PREVENTION 

A bill draft [19.0279.01000] to provide an appropriation for behavioral health prevention and 
early intervention services. This bill provides an additional $600,000 to expand existing 
prevention and early intervention activities including $300,000 for substance use prevention 
and $300,000 for mental health prevention. 

SB 2029 CRIMINAL JUSTICE REFORM EXPANSION 

A bill draft [19.0280.02000] to implement a community behavioral health program. This bill 
would expand current Free through Recovery Services to individuals involved in the criminal 
justice system without requiring them to be in the state correction system. It includes a total of 
$7 million dollars - $5,250,000 in general funds and $1,250,000 in special funds. It includes 
6 FTE positions. 

SB 2030 PLANNING/COORDINATION 

A bill draft [19.0281.02000] to provide an appropriation to coordinate the implementation of 
behavioral health study recommendations. This bill recognizes the critical need to continue to 
expand behavioral health resources and services recommended in the HSRI Study. It 
authorized 1.5 FTE's and $408,000 to complete these steps. This is one time funding. 

SB 2031 CORE SERVICE EXPANSION 

A bill draft [19.0282.01000] to provide an appropriation for targeted case management. This bill 
would expand community based services for children through the elderly with severe 
mental illness and individuals with severe emotional disturbance needing behavioral health 
services (both mental health and substance use disorder) through an appropriation of 
$12,196,834, 

SB 2032 RECOVERY SUPPORT 

A bill draft [19.0305.01000] to implement a peer support services certification program. This 
bill would enhance recovery support shall establish and implement a program for the 
certification of peer support specialists. It includes an appropriation of $275,000. 
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Chairman Lee and members of the Senate Human Services Committee, I am 

Pamela Sagness, Director of the Behavioral Health Division of the Department of 

Human Services (OHS). I appear today in support of Senate Bill 2029. 

Senate Bill 2029 looks to expand the Free Through Recovery program, as was also 

proposed in the Governor's Executive Budget request. The Free Through Recovery 

program was developed through a partnership between the Department of Human 

Services (OHS) and Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (DOCR) and is 

administered by the Behavioral Health Division of OHS. This program has brought 

recovery support services, including care coordination and peer support to 

individuals with an addiction, mental illness or both, who are also in the criminal 

justice system. 

This program was developed to address the need for behavioral health community

based services and supports throughout the state. The Free Through Recovery 

program is reimbursed based on outcomes. Free Through Recovery providers are 

reimbursed a flat monthly rate. And, if participants achieve at least 3 of 4 outcomes 

(housing, employment, recovery, and reduced criminal justice involvement) there is 

an additional 20% performance enhancement pay. Overall, more than 900 

individuals have participated in Free Through Recovery and from March - November 

2018, 68% of participants achieved this measure of success. 

Although Free Through Recovery has established new community-based services, 

these services are only available to individuals currently on probation, parole, or 

exiting incarceration. There are many more individuals that need access to these 

services. With expanded access, Free Through Recovery could reach moms and 
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dads involved with social services and at risk of being separated from their children, 

individuals with behavioral health conditions at risk of criminal justice involvement, 

and those frequenting the emergency departments, homeless shelters, and 

engaging with law enforcement officers because they don't have the support and 

coordination to access care or services that can result in stability and recovery. 

Expansion of Free Through Recovery has the potential to address Human Services 

Research Institute (HSRI) goals #3, 4, 6, 9, 10, 11,12, and 13. 

This concludes my testimony, and I am happy to answer any questions you may 

have. 

2 
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Human Services Committee 
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January 7, 2019 

Chairman Lee and members of the committee, my name is Carlotta McCleary. I am the 

Executive Director for both Mental Health America of North Dakota and North Dakota 

Federation of Families for Children's Mental Health. Today I speak on behalf of the Mental 

Health Advocacy Network (MHAN). MHAN advocates for a consumer/family driven mental 

health system of care that provides an array of service choices that are timely, responsive and 

effective. 

MHAN has provided testimony since the 2015 session and the most recent interim human 

service and health service committee meetings regarding our priorities. We argue that peer to 

peer and family support, consumer choice, diversion from corrections, a core services zero-

reject model, and conflict free grievance and appeals processes, and the access to a full and 

functional continuum of care serve as the backbone to correcting the crisis in North Dakota's 

behavioral health system. 

MHAN is testifying in support of SB 2029, which would establish a community-based 

behavioral health program similar to Free Through Recovery, but this program would be for 

people who are not involved in the criminal justice system. SB 2029 will "provide 

comprehensive community-based services for individuals who have serious behavioral health 

conditions." One of the essential components of the Free Through Recovery Model is peer 

support. 
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MHAN's number one priority is funding for peer-to-peer and family-to-family support. 

For the last four sessions, consumers and families have made it known that peer support 

is a critical service that is both dramatically underfunded for children and is only 

available to adults if they are involved in the corrections system. 

Peer support is an evidence-based practice. The Schulte report made clear, "The use of 

peers, family support peers, recovery coaches, and other persons with lived experience, 

is an evidence-based practice and a growing national trend with good treatment 

outcomes. In rural areas with behavioral health professional shortages, like North 

Dakota, using peers and other interested persons like teachers, law enforcement 

personnel, emergency workers, etc. are instrumental to expanding the workforce. In 

addition, increasing the number of out-stationed workers in the community is key to 

improving access to services." 

MHAN believes that peer to peer support services should be included and adequately 

funded (not volunteer, but with fair wages and benefits) in every region of the state 

through Regional Recovery Centers, family and consumer run non-profits, or other 

appropriate outlets. 

Even though MHAN supports SB 2029, we do have reservations. Since the rollout of 

Free Through Recovery, we have become aware of some concerns with peer support 

specialists not being reimbursed for their services. We suggest that the North Dakota 

Legislature and the Department of Human Services correct this problem as this moves 

forward. It is essential that the peer support workforce is respected as they do this 

important work. 

I would be happy to take any questions you have. 

tr'1 fj ,d. 
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SENATE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE 

TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF SB2029 
"Community Mental Health proram" 

Senator Lee and Committee Members. I am Jessica Thomasson, CEO at Lutheran 

Social Services of North Dakota. On behalf of Lutheran Social Services I am testifying today in 

support of SB2029. 

tis- P' J J 

If there is one thing we have seen demonstrated time and again in our work as a Free 

Through Recovery provider, it is that relationships matter in recovery. Care coordinators and 

Peer Support Specialists work together to make sure the men and women participating in Free 

Through Recovery know that the relationships they are building can be counted on both when 

things are going well, and when things are not going well. This commitment to stick with people 

as they find their way forward, even when "the way forward" takes a circuitous path, is in my 

opinion, one of the key factors that will be a prime contributor to the initiative's ultimate success. 

LSS has been an approved Free Through Recovery provider since the program started in 

February 20 1 8. Over the last year we have served 1 20 men and women who were exiting the 

state prison system, on their way back to community. We have had care coordinators working 

with clients in every region, and as such have had a first hand look at the impact this innovative 

program is having on people's lives as they work every day to find their own path to recovery, 

stability and well being. 

Joe's story is a good illustration of what care coordination work can do for someone who 

is trying to start anew. After being released on parole, Joe connected with Katie, his Free 

Through Recovery care coordinator. They started working together on a plan. Within a few 

weeks of his release, he had a job and was able to secure an apartment. He got involved in 

Page 1 of 4 
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Celebrate Recovery and has been actively working to rebuild his connections to his family, 

including efforts to re-connect with his daughters. Walking with him every step of the way, Katie 

was able to help him find donated furniture, apply for Medicaid, figure out a plan for how to get 

to and from work when he didn't have reliable transportation, pursue and ultimately get a better 

paying job, and start thinking about his future. He wants to be a Peer Support Specialist or 

somehow find a way to help people in recovery. He is thinking about furthering his education -

about what he wants to do next. He is thinking about the future. And he's ready to discharge 

from Free Through Recovery, after only six months. 

Not every story is a "success" story like Joe's but, what we know is that the path to 

recovery can be long and winding, and that persisting through setbacks is what it takes to do this 

work. In our experience, having the permission to persist through setbacks with someone who is 

struggling is, in fact, one of the things that makes this programmatic model so different. 

The opportunity presented in SB2029, to take the Free Through Recovery model and 

make it available to people who are not engaged with the criminal justice system but who are 

struggling with a mental health issue and/or addiction, will have a powerful impact on hundreds 

of North Dakota families who are struggling to make a better life for themselves. 

This model, applied to a broader population, could support the state's efforts to transform 

the child welfare system, through the Family First Prevention Services Act. Care Coordinators 

and Peer Support Specialists could provide home- and community-based behavioral health 

supports for families who are at risk of having children removed from their home to a foster care 

placement because of parent(s)' issues with mental health and/or addiction. 

As one of the providers that serves people all over the state, I want to also speak 

specifically to the scalability and the care coordination model as it is currently designed. We 

Page 2 of 4 
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have been able to deploy trained staff in communities large and small across the state because of 

the program's inherent flexibility. The focus on outcomes, on helping to define quality care 

practices, and on ensuring that all of the work being done is trauma-informed and client

centered, provides the needed framework for success. The ultimate means and methods of how 

service is provided is left up to the individual providers, as driven by the needs of the men and 

women they are serving. It has allowed providers to create place-based solutions that 

acknowledge the uniqueness of local networks and approaches, while maintaining consistency in 

the quality of services being provided. 

There are a lot of exciting efforts afoot to build on the continuum of behavioral health 

services available to the people of our state. Many of these community mental health approaches 

are built on the concepts that are at the heart of care coordination and peer support. Care 

Coordination, as it is practiced in Free Through Recovery, is not "Case Management" - it is not 

transactional, but rather it is relational. It is not about approving or authorizing services or 

determining eligibility or compliance; rather it is about meeting the person where they are, 

helping them re-build and re-imagine their own networks of support - both formal and informal. 

The Care Coordinators' and Peer Support Specialists' work helps bind all the varied 

interventions and interactions together to ensure people who are struggling with behavioral 

health issues are getting what they need, when they need it. That is the essence of community

based behavioral health. 

It is our opinion, as an organization that has served children and families across North 

Dakota for 1 00 years, that we will be most successful as a state if we look around and identify 

existing system architecture that works and then invest in it more fully, just as SB2029 does. 

Identify effective practices and delivery systems and find ways to scale them to serve more areas 
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of the state. Build out the system of care by investing in components that are proven to work in 

our state - with, not against, our unique geographic and demographic challenges. The work that 

is being done to strengthen, and in many cases create, our community mental health system has 

the potential to be truly transformational. This is one important piece of the puzzle. 

We strongly encourage your support of SB2029 . Thank you for the opportunity to speak 

to you today. I would be happy to answer any questions you may have. 

Jessica Thomasson 
CEO, Lutheran Social Services of North Dakota 
Email: jthomasson@lssnd.org 
Phone: 701-271-3272 
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Support fo r Senate B i l l  No .  2029 - Imp lementatio n  of a Comm u n ity Be havio ra l Hea l th P rogram 

I have s e rved as  the Ad m i n i strato r of the Cass Cou nty ja i l  fo r nea r ly 5 yea rs, a n d  I have been emp loyed at the  
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our  cu rrent  system of ca re dete rio rate to the po i nt of becom ing  j u st i ce i nvo lved, wh ich  i n  t u rn often l eads  to a 
cont i n u i ng downwa rd sp i ra l .  I n  rea l ity, I spend the  m ajo rity of my t ime ma nag i ng the  effects of th i s  system ic 
i neffective ness .  I n  the t ime I have left, I advocate fo r imp rovements a nd  im p l ement refo rm effo rts .  I st ro ng ly 
support S . B .  2029, and  the  app ropriated fu nd i ng  that  has  been p roposed .  

I n  the p revious  leg is l a t ive sessio n, a s imi l a r  p rogra m was created ca l l ed Free Through  Recove ry, wh i ch  i s  
sound i n  its com prehens ive app roach to ident ify i ng p rospect ive c l i e nts and p rovides fu nd i ng fo r targeted needs  
based d i re ct a ssista nce . The  p rob lem with th i s  p rogra m, howeve r, is i t s  l im ited scope .  I n  o rde r  q ua l i fy fo r t h is 
a ss ista nce, a n  i n d ivid u a l  m ust fi rst be on superv ised probat io n, a nd then  m ust be screened a nd  a ssessed based 
on  certa i n  r i sk crite ria . 

If I co u l d  o n ly stress two po i nts i n  th i s  test imony it wou l d  be these .  F i rst, t he  Free Th rough Recove ry co nce pt 
a nd  approach  i s  effective and  l eads  to improved outcomes .  Seco nd ,  there a re ma ny, many peop l e  who a re 
suffering from a lco ho l  add ict ion ,  d rug add ictio n ,  a n d  menta l i l l ness  who a re not yet rema nded to supe rv i s ion  by 
the Depa rtment of Co rrect ions .  

I f  the co ncept fo r F ree Th ro ugh Recove ry wo rks fo r those who have become  j ust ice i nvolved, t hen  i t  m a kes  
pe rfect sen se fo r tha t  sa me a pproach, and  those  sa m e  serv ices, to  be made  ava i l a b l e  to those  who a re not yet 
j u st ice i nvo lved, a nd to those who a re i n  the i n it i a l  stages of c rim i n a l  p rosecut ion .  I fi rm ly be l ieve that  t h i s  type  
of  fund ing  a n d  progra m m ing ca n fu rther  red uce o u r  dependence o n  i nca rce ratio n a nd pun i s hment, wh i ch  h a s  
p roven to  have l itt l e  t o  no effect on  cr im ina l ity t h a t  i s  rooted i n  behav iora l hea l th i ssues .  

When t he  2017-2018 b ie n n i um  bega n, we at the  Cass Cou nty J a i l  took  an extens ive look at  the  Free Th ro ugh  
Recove ry mode l, and  dec ided t ha t  we  co u ld  ach ieve bette r o utcomes i f  we  created a s im i l a r  mode l  a n d  made  i t  
a ccess ib l e  to those who  were tem pora ri l y  com m itted to  o u r  ca re .  I n  Ap r i l  of  2018  we  were a b l e  to  l a u n ch  ou r  
Commun ity Supe rvis io n U n it, a nd  the i n it ia l retu rns  we a re see i ng  from those  effo rts a re rema rka b l e .  
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The Com m u n ity Superv i s ion U n it (CSU )  esse nt ia l ly m i rro rs the co ncepts that  were bu i l t  i nto the Free Thro ugh 

Recove ry mode l .  I nstead of serv ing those who a re on Supervised Probat ion,  our pa rt i c ipa nts a re those who a re 
com m itted to t he  custody of the  Cass Cou nty She riffs  Office .  I n  other  words, peop l e  who wou l d  othe rwise be 
o rdered to spend  t ime in ja i l .  When  we fi rst l a u nched ,  th is opt ion was on ly ava i l ab l e  to those sentenced by the 
d istr ict co u rt .  With in  the f irst few m onths of ope rat ion ,  both the Fa rgo a nd West Fa rgo M u n i c ipa l  Co u rts had 
the oppo rt un ity to review our  p rogra m a nd  e l ected to  a uthorize e l ig ib i l ity fo r the i r  defenda nts as we l l .  I n  the  
fa l l  of 2018, e l ig i b i l ity fo r the p rogra m expanded  once aga i n  when the D istrict Cou rt a utho r ized p a rt ic ipat io n to 
those who we re unab l e  to post b a i l  t ha t  had  been  set at $500 or l ess . 

The Free Thro ugh Recove ry p rogra m p rovides fu nd i ng fo r Ca re Coo rd i nato rs, as  we l l  a s  t ra i n ing and resou rces 
fo r Peer  Support Speci a l ists . The CSU a ss igns spec ific, ded icated deput ies to fi l l  those ro les .  
Wh i l e  pa rt ic i pa nts  i n  our  p rogra m do  be nefit from fu nd i ng sou rces fo r t reatment, such  a s  the Su bsta nce Abuse 
Diso rde r  Vouche r, there a re no other  state fu nds  used ,  no r  any fees attr ibuted to the pa rt ic ipa nts. Cass  Cou nty 
i s  fu nd i ng the expense of t h ree deput ies a nd  the  G PS fees .  

App l ica nts to our program a re screened  fo r s u bsta nt i a l  r is ks, such as a bscond i ng, v io lent  acts, o r  non
comp l ia nce with p rogra m m ing  req u i rements .  Those se lected a re req u i red to wea r a G PS b race l et fo r t rack ing 
pu rposes, and then part ic ipate i n  Needs  Based a ssessment  and p l a nn i ng .  We have ded icated deput ies  who then 
active ly p u rsue  fu lfi l l ment  of those i dent ifi ed  needs .  Wh i le  one does not  need to have a d iagnosed o r  exist i ng 
behav iora l  hea l th  conce rn to pa rt ic i pate, the fa ct is that  most of the part ic ipa nts to i ndeed have such needs .  

F ifty-t h ree pe rcent (53%)  of the  pa rt i c ipa nts i n  our  p rogra m to date have been adm itted i nto some fo rm of  
fo rma l  treatment  w i th  one  of our  com m u n ity p rovi de rs i n  Fargo . E ighty-Th ree pe rcent (83%) of those e i the r 
s uccessfu l ly com p leted that treatment o r  were st i l l  a ct ive ly rece iving treatment  at the  t ime  the i r  sentence o r  
crim i n a l  case wa s  reso lved . 

Fifteen  of o u r  pa rt ic ipa nts we re home less at the t ime  of the i r  a pp l icat ion, a nd successfu l ly obta i ned  sta b l e  
a nd permanent hous ing with the a ss ista nce of  CSU  deput ies .  

Of a l l  p a rt i c ipa nts i n  the  p rogra m to d ate, 21% a re st i l l  e n ro l led,  64% successfu l ly com p leted and  have not 
s i nce been rea rrested, a nd 15% fa i l ed  the  p rogra m a nd were retu rned to ja i l ,  i n c l ud i ng t h ree that absconded . 
Ad m itted ly, we o n ly have 9 months  of d ata so fa r, b ut I a m  encou raged to report that  of those who have 
successfu l ly com p leted o u r  p rogra m, o n ly one  has  s i n ce retu rned to j a i l  fo r a new crim i n a l  matte r. A l l  of t hose 
who fa i l ed  a re e i the r  sti l l  in j a i l ,  or ret u rned aga i n  after re l ease. 

My pu rpose in p rovid i ng these sta t ist ics is to demonstrate that these concepts a re effective . I de ntify ing a n d  
p rovid i ng  d i rect a ss ista nce t o  Behav iora l Hea l th needs, rega rd less o f  other c i rcumsta nces, i s  both cost a nd  
outcome effective . When  we  effective ly ta rget t h e  unde r ly ing issues, we  a re see ing imp roved outcom es .  
Peop l e  t h roughout  th is state, a n d  ac ross a l l  demogra ph ics, a re suffering from add ict io n  a nd/o r menta l i l l n ess .  
The fu nd i ng a n d  progra m m i ng i n c l uded  in S . B .  2029 is cr it ica l to improving a ccess a nd o ngo ing de l ivery of 
services, a n d  wi l l  fu rthe r  red uce the stra i n  on the crim i n a l  j ustice system .  I u rge yo u to pass this b i l l .  
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TESTIMONY 
Senate Appropriations Committee 

SB 2029  
January 23 ,  2 0 1 9 

Senator Kathy Hogan 
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Chairman Holmberg and members of the Senatel!tt1-nan Service Committee, my name is 
Kathy Hogan, and I represent D istrict 2 1  the heart of Fargo. 

Over the next several days, your committee wil l  be hearing five bil ls related to behavioral 
health , many of which directly relate to the HSRI study . Attached is a summary of those 

lj l  

bills that you may use as a reference document. \ H IA-""-a..n S e rv,c e s  Re.s .eard. rr.s f-.' f-'-Lfe 

In the previous biennium the Interim committee monitored the implementation and 
success of the Free through Recovery collaboration between ND Department of 
Corrections, the ND Department of Human Services and many local community partners. 

Free Through Recovery participants work with local providers to receive: 
Care Coordination: Includes an ongoing source of connection, helping 
participants' access treatment and recovery support services, and creatively 
addressing barriers to individual success. It also includes the provision of 
assessment, care planning, referrals, and monitoring collaboration with clinical 
services and probation and parole; 
Recovery Services: Includes access to supportive housing, educational 
opportunities, meaningful employment, leisure activities and wellness, family 
and community social supports, parenting education, spiritual engagement, 
nourishment assistance programs, and any other individualizedresources 
needed to help participants lead a healthy and fulfilling life; 
Peer Support: Connection with a peer who has similar lived experience. Peer 
support specialists provide mentorship, advocacy and additional recovery support. 
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For addi t ional information, p lease see the DHS website 

https://www.behavioralhealth.nd.gov/addiction/free-through-recovery 
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One of the primary concerns we heard during the interim legislat ive session was that this 
program is only accessible to individuals already deeply in-bedded in the state 
corrections system. One of the current requirements is that participants need to be 
involved with the ND Department of Corrections, either incarcerated or on probation or 
parole . 

SB 2029 is designed to broaden the e l igibility of Free Through Recovery Program to 
include individuals incarcerated through local county j ails, potentially to pre--trial 
diversion, pre-sentence si tuations and other high-risk indiv iduals such as those 
involved in child welfare services. 

The budget of this bill is based on the first biennium's F ree Through Recovery 
experience because many of  the c ore infrastructure pieces of this process are 
already in place such as peer support and case management. This was originally seen 
as simply a broadening of that system. 

I should note that the Governor's budget has similar recommendations of this model 
and if we were to pass this pol icy recommendation forward, the Appropriations 
committee will address any similarities and differences in the budget during their 
discussions. 

Thank you, Chairman Holmberg, I would be more than willing to answer any questions. 

HSRI Goals: 3,4,6,9,10,11,12,13 



BEHAVIORAL H EALTH SYSTEM STUDY TI MELI N E  

Behaviora l Hea lth Divis ion i n  
contract with HSR I  to  conduct an 
i n-depth review of North 
Dakota's behaviora l  hea lth 
system .  

F ina l  report released Apri l 2018 

1/1/2017 TO 
6/30/2018 

Behavioral Hea lth Divis ion in 
contract with HSRI to i n itiate and 
fac i l itate the implementation of 
a strategic  p l an  based off the 
recommendations from the 
comprehensive study of ND's 
behaviora l hea lth system 
pub l ished Apri l 2018. 

APRI L 201 8 BEHAVIORAL H EATLH SYSTEM STU DY 
Served as a component of interim legislative committee studies during the 6sth Legislative Interim. 

Jt I 
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Th is  report presents the fi nd i ngs  from the North Dakota Comprehens ive Behaviora l  Hea lth Systems 

Ana lys is, conducted by the Human Servi ces Research I n stitute (HSRI) for the North Dakota Department 

of Human Servi ces' Behaviora l  Hea lth Div is ion. 

The 250-page report provides more than 65 recommendat ions i n  1 3  categories. Th is  set of 

recommendations is i ntentiona l ly broad and fa r-reach ing ;  it i s  not expected, nor suggested, that 

sta keho lders in North Dakota endeavor to implement al l  these recommendat ions at once. 

1 .  Develop a comprehensive implementation plan 

2.  Invest in prevention and early intervention 

3. Ensure a l l  North Dakotans have timely access to behaviora l hea lth services 

4. Expand outpatient and community-based service array 

5 .  Enhance and streamline system of care for children and youth 

6. Continue to implement/refine criminal justice strategy 

7. Engage in targeted efforts to recru it/reta in competent behaviora l health workforce 

8. Expand the use of tele-behaviora l hea lth 

9. Ensure the system reflects its va lues of person-centeredness, cultura l  competence, 

trauma-informed approaches 

1 0. Encourage a nd support the efforts of communities to promote high-quality services 

1 1 .  Partner with tribal  nations to increase health equity 

1 2. Diversify and enhance funding for behavioral health 

1 3. Conduct ongoing, system-side data-driven monitoring of needs and access 



I M PLEMENTATION 
HSRI i s  conti nu i ng to  su pport the North Dakota Behavioral Hea lth Divi s ion (i n contract th rough  J u ne 
201 9) and the North Dakota Behaviora l Hea lth Pl ann i ng  Counc i l  to engage  i n  coord i nated, data 
d riven system transformation activi t ies based on the recommendations from the 20 1 8  Behaviora l  
Hea l th  System Study. 

Worki ng with stakeholders - i n c l ud i ng  service users and  fami l i es, advocates, providers, adm in i strators, 
and other North Dakotans - HSRI is he lp ing the state set its cou rse for ongo ing system mon itori ng ,  
pl ann i ng ,  and improvements i n  the long term. 

1 .  Strategic 
Planning 
• Draft strategic plan 

protocol 
• Ratified goal 

matrix 

2. Prioritization 
& Refinement 
• Final strategic plan 

(protocol , goals & 
objectives) 

Nov.- Dec . 
:2 0 1 8  

3. Initiation 
• March 2019 

progress report 

4. Monitoring & 
Sustaining 
• Revised/amended 

strategic plan 
• June 2019 progress 

report 

Apr .-June 
20 19 

Based on the ori g i na l  1 3  recommendat ions, H SRI has  d rafted a l i st of 1 40 strateg i c  goa l s  to enhance 
and improve a l l  aspects of the state's behaviora l  hea l th system i n  the yea rs to come. 

www .hsri.org/N Dvision -2020 

- N O R T H  D A K O T A -

BEHAVIORAL 

HEALTH 
North Dakota Depa rtment of H u man  Serv i ces 

www.behavioralhealth.nd.gov 
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Tit le .  

P repared by the Leg is lative Counc i l  staff for 
Senator J .  Lee 

January 1 4 , 201 9 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENG ROSSED SENATE BI LL NO .  2029 

Page 2, l i ne  1 0 , after the period insert "The department is  authorized s ix fu l l-t ime equ ivalent 
posit ions to implement the commun ity behavioral health prog ram . "  

Renumber accord ing ly 

Page No.  1 1 9 . 0280 .0400 1 

fJ I 
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BEHAVIORAL 

HEALTH 

FU N D I NG 
Senate B i l l  201 5 app ropriated the sum of $7,000,000 to the Depa rtment of H u m a n  Services for the p u rpose of 
i m p lement ing a com m u n ity-based behavi o ra l  hea lth p rogra m, for the 20 1 7-20 1 9 b ie n n i u m .  

TO BE E L IG I B LE FOR FREE  TH ROU G H  
RECOVERY, I N D IVI DUALS M UST: 
O 1 8  yea rs of age o r  o l de r  

O I nvolved with the  cri m i n a l  j ust ice system a n d  at r i s k  for futu re 
cri m i na l  j ust ice i nvo lvement 

O Show s igns of a behaviora l  hea lth cond i t ion such  as; b i po l a r  
d isord e r, major  depress ion ,  psychotic d i sorders of  a l l  types, 
post-tra u matic stress d isorder, obsess ive com p u l s ive d i sorder, 
bord e rl i n e  persona l ity d isorder, pan i c  d i sorder, moderate a n d  
severe su bsta nce u s e  d i sorder(s) 

O D isp lay concerns/cha l l enges in a reas of d a i ly l iv ing (hous i ng, 
emp loyment, etc. )  

REFERRALS 

I n d iv id u a l s  ca n be refe rred 
to the  progra m by a paro le  
and p robat ion  officer, or  i f  
the  person i s  trans i ti o n i ng 
from pr i son ,  t h rough a n  
i ntern a l  a ssessm e nt 
p ro cess at the  Depa rtment 
of Correctio n s  a n d  
Reha b i l itati o n .  

SERVICES PROVI DED  TH ROUGH  FRE E TH ROU G H  RECOVE RY 
Care Coordination 
I nc ludes an ongo ing source of 
con nection ,  he lp ing part ic ipa nts 
access treatment and recovery 
support servi ces, a nd creatively 
address i ng ba rr iers to i nd ividua l  
su ccess. I t  a l so inc l udes the 
p rovis ion of assessment, ca re 
p l ann i ng, referra ls, and mon ito r ing 
co l l a borat ion with c l i n i ca l  servi ces 
and probation and  paro le 

Recovery Services 
I nc ludes a ccess to supportive 
housi ng, educationa l 
opportu n it ies, mea n i ngfu l 
emp loyment, l e i sure activit ies and  
we l l ness, fa m i ly and  com m u n ity 
socia l  su pports, parenti ng 
education ,  sp i r itua l  engagement, 
nou r ishment ass ista nce progra ms, 
a nd a ny other i nd ivi dua l ized 
reso urces needed to he lp  
parti c ipa nts l ead  a hea lthy and  
fu lfi l l i ng l ife 

Peer S upport 
Connectio n  with a peer who has  
s im i l a r  l ived exper ience .  Peer  
support spec ia l ists provide  
mentors h i p, a dvocacy a n d  
add it io na l  recovery support 



FRE E TH RO U G H  RECOVE RY P ROVI D E RS 
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There a re cu r rently 27 F ree Th rough Recovery Provide rs located th roughout the state with the capac ity to serve 
867 pa rt i c ipa nts . 

I M PLEM E NTATIO N  
Free Through Recovery began accepti ng referra l s  on  J anua ry 1 0, 201 8 and  services began on  Februa ry 1 ,  20 1 8. 
S i nce then ,  over 900 i n d ivid ua l s  have pa rt ic i pated i n  the p rogram,  with 627 i nd ividua l s  cu rrently be ing served .  

Monthly Census {active participants), D ischarges and Den ia ls 
700 

600 • Census 

500 

• Discharge 
• Den ia l  

400 

300 393 
311  

200 240 1 34 
1 00 
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480 

428 
447 
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2 0 
JAN 1 8  FEB 1 8  MAR 1 8  APR 1 8  MAY 1 8  JUN  1 8  JUL  1 8  AUG 1 8  SEP 1 8  OCT 1 8  NOV 1 8  DEC 1 8  JAN 1 9  

There has been a tota l of 365 d ischarges from Free Through Recovery. The majority of ind iv iduals dec l ined o r  stopped parti cipating (34%), 
fo l l owed by those who had no contact with their ca re coord inator or absconded (26%). 33 ind ividua ls were identified as not e l ig ib le .  

Of the 627 current partic ipants: 
• 47% of pa rt i c ipa nts have a co-occurr ing (menta l 

hea lth a nd  substance use) behavio ra l  hea lth need .  
• 58% of pa rt i c ipa nts a re ma le .  
• Ha lf of the parti c i pants (54%) a re between  the ages 

of 3 1 -50 and  a th i rd (33%) of the i n d ivi d ua l s  a re 
between the ages of 1 8-30. 

• The major ity (67%) of pa rt i c ipa nts a re wh ite. 24% of 
part i c i pa nts a re Native America n .  

• 84% of pa rt i c ipa nts have a moderate-h igh o r  h igh 
r i sk of com m itt ing new cr imes (LS I -R  score of 30 or 
above). 

• The major ity of cu rrent pa rt i c i pants i n  the p rogram 
come  from the Fargo a rea (34%), fo l l owed by 
B i smarck  (29%). 

OUTCO M ES 
Free Through Recovery Provid ers a re 
re imbu rsed with a pay fo r perfo rmance 
mode l .  In a d d it ion to month ly base pay, 
p rovid e rs ca n rece ive perfo rmance  pay 
if part i c ipa nts meet at l east 3 of 4 
outcome  m etr ics (Hous i ng, 
Emp loyment, Recovery, and  
I nvolvement with Law Enfo rcement). 

Overa l l ,  from Ma rch through Decem ber 
201 8, p rovi de rs earned performance 
pay for 68% of the ir pa rt ic i pants . 

March - December  201 8 
Outcomes 

• Met 3 or 4 outcomes - 68% 
• Met < 3 outcomes- 32% 

Behavioral Health Needs 

Positive outcomes were ach ieved by: 
0 73% of the pa rt i c ipants in the law 

enfo rcement doma in  
0 73% of  the  pa rt i c ipants i n  the 

hous ing doma i n  
0 70% of  the  pa rt ic ipants i n  the 

emp loyment doma in  
0 67% of  the  pa rt ic ipants i n  the 

recovery doma i n  



• 

5 /3 J-rJ J-.1 

I - :l. 3  � � O / Cj  

My name is Sidney Mccorvey and rm a resident here in  the  Bismarck/Mandan f>J I 
area and rm a lso a Peer Support Specia l ist and rm here in support of 

SB2032 

I 've had issues with substance abuse from a early age, Today rm a lmost 3 

years and 3 months and counting in  recovery, I was released from James River 

Correctional Center In J une of 2018, l 'm not proud of this fact but rm not 

embarrassed e ither because of the th ings I learned about myself through 

individual counseling and group therapy, but the things i learned from my fellow 

inmates was especia l ly va luable because of their l ived experience. For 

example rd never heard the word recidivism which to me is what this bil l is 

pretty much a l l  about. I had a friend ask me why is it that when most people got 

released from jails and prisons they say their changed because they found god 

and are changed people, wel l  rm not privy to the records of who ends up  back 

ins ide and who does'nt but I bel ieve it's the ones that have no outlet or 

support to help them l ive a different l ife that windup back inside for the same 

crimes. 

In my early days of I ncarceration I knew I d idn't want to see anyone end up in  

this position .  

The fi rst t ime I met Adam Mart in he came to JRCC to tel l  us about the FS project 

I heard h im say " I n  order to help yourself you have to he lp others" 

Which made perfect sense to me and started me on my journey to being here 

today. 

For those that suffer from the sickness of addiction and a lcohol ism we don't 

need to excuse to pick up  that d rug or dr ink, any reason wi l l  do. see we a l l  have 

burned bridges with close friends and fami ly and it's where Peer  Support comes 

into p lay to be the ones to help others rebu i ld new and stronger bridges . 

bel ieve me i sure wish I had someone l ike me when I was i n  my younger days. 
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I need you a l l  to know that if any of your  ch i ldren or grandch i ldren were having 

issues with substance abuse I wou ld surely l i ke to sit down with them perhaps 

on a park bench while eating a ice cream cone or by a lake fishing so I could 

share my learned and l ived experience and a l low them to hear some questions 

for them to answer for themselves, because that's one of the th ings I learned in 

the peer support tra in ing is that we are a l ready peer supports it' knowing how 

to access the inner wisdom in others.  

So I humbly ask you to support FTR Peer Support B i l l : SB 2026, SB 2028, SB 2029 

SB 2030, SB 2031,SB 2032 so we can show the rest of the country how it's 

done. You wi l l  a lso find a copy of my story, it wasn't writ ing it but when I 

read it back to myself is when it made a rea l impact on my th inking. it's on ly 2 

of the 3 pages I wrote. 

I thank  you in advance, 

Sincerely Sidney D Mccorvey 

3108 12th Ave Nw Apt 310 

Mandan, ND  58554 

701 368-182 1 
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I be l ieve it wa s my second n ight i n  NDSP that I rea l ized what  I needed to do .  I bega n keepi ng a jou rna l of my d a i ly 
exper ie nces i n  o rder  to he lp prevent anyone  from end ing up  in a p lace l i ke th is, no  matte r what  the i r  age, sex, race, o r  
re l ig ion may be .  You see, it sta rted rem ind ing me of t imes  when I was  young and  goi ng to  s l eep co ld a nd  hung ry .  I have 
seen th i s  ha ppen to kids today and I fee l  I have to do  what I can to p revent th is . When I shared  th is with another inmate, 
h is response was, "The on ly person I have ever hea rd of that ca red that much a bout peop le was Jesus ." This is when I 
knew it was God's path and  I fe lt it in my hea rt. 
Around Oc�ber� 201-5,  I went for a drug-evaluat ion  cm"d was as�ed, "When was- the ' F I RST' t ime 11.ou usec! d rugs, and  
what was  it?" I sha red the  sto ry o f  my  Dad's dea th  at t he  age o f  n i ne,  and  how my unc le  took  me to  h i s  p lace a nd sat me  
down and  to ld me, "You r  D ad  is dead ."  H e  t h e n  p roceeded to h a nd  me a p i pe, struck a match ,  a nd  taught me  how to 
smoke marij uana .  I was then asked if I had ever rece ived thera py or co unse l i ng fo r th i s .  I said, "No ." and  "What for?" I 
was to ld that it was a fo rm of menta l sca rri ng .  I d i dn 't even know what that mea nt. I sn ' t  it norma l  for peop le  to get past 
the pa i n  and grief of losing a loved one?  Even when you watch TV, yo u see a person suffer i ng from grief head to a ba r or 
go home and grab a bott le and a glass a nd keep fi l l i ng it u nt i l  its gone. Waking up the next morn ing fee l ing l i ke cra p, 
missing work without ca l l i ng in and eve ryone understands .  
Anyway, now l th ink about the fact that I was n ine years o ld ,  wh ich is the same age my daughter is  today. Th inking hard 
on all th is, I began to fonn a plan of how I can help kids. I asked my daughter if she would have a problem with me 
coming to her school to do presentations on drug awareness and prevention. She smi led at me and said, "Dad, you can 
come to my boys and girls club, too." I am amazed at how smart and mature she is for her age. I had to stand up and go 
into the restroom so she cou l dn 't see the tears forming in my eyes .  (Gontimt�� 

NOW, I HAVE A M ISS ION AN D A PLAN. 
I need you a l l  to know that I have qu it using d rugs many times o n  my own and  it was u sua l ly beca use I found  something 
that cou ld  he lp others .  That gave me a sense of pr ide and se lf-worth . The n  I end  up suffer ing from a noth-er loss of some 
k ind a nd it wou ld  a l l  beg i n  aga i n  with just a puff of marijua na, which wou l d  soon  become out of con-tro l .  
I am  now at J RCC a nd counti ng my blessings that  begin with the fact that  next door to the do rm room i n  wh ich I a m  
l iv ing a long with six other guys who a re much l i ke me, (com ing from broken and/or tragic homes) ,  i s  t h e  menta l  hea lth 
counselor .  I am fina l ly getting the thera py that I did not real ize I h ave needed fo r over 40 yea rs .  Not on ly was I h appy to 
get sta rted, but I e njoy the two group thera py d rug treatment p rograms.  I a l so work in the  l and-scaping program as a 
gardener, which I rea l ly love beca u se I am lea rn ing to grow my own vegetab les a nd  the p ro-ceeds from ou r  garden here 
go to the loca l food pa ntry. I a m  a lso a member  of the J RCC men ' s  cho i r .  One of my fe l- low members a sked me if I wou l d  
be  interested i n  coming to  a n  NA meeting t ha t  h e  cha i rs. I s a i d  o f  cou rse, because I have a p la n to have my NA meeting 
when I get back home. He to ld me that when he gets out, which w i l l  be i n  GQ-8 weeks, he w i l l  be looking for someone to 
step i n  a nd keep  it going, so now I am learn i ng to not on ly cha i r, but lea rn- ing how to start my own group and have it 
recogn ized and ce rt ified by the Headquarters i n  Van N uys Ca l ifo rn i a .  
P lease, try to  understand  that  I am not  the  same man  I was  when I wa l ked i n  he re:ztu,-.. Beca use of the thera py and  
counse l ing I was  b lessed to rece ive wh i le  I have been  at J RCC, I have  met  guys that th i nk  t hey shou ld  not be he re and 
guys that  a bso l ute ly shou l d  be .  I have a lso met guys who never  want  to  l eave and  some that  shou ld  nev-er be  a l lowed to 
leave beca use of the  ugly th i ngs they want to do to peop le  when re leased .  
I am he re, no t  ask ing for a nything specia l ,  bu t  o n ly to  ask  and tha n k  God  i n  advance to, p lease, a l low me to  at least see 
my da ughte r graduate from h igh  schoo l .  I h L• mbly ask th i .;  not c,n ly fo r myself, iny mother, da ughter, gra ndch i ldren ,  a nd  
my future grandch i ldren,  but a lso so  I c a n  m a ke a d ifference in you r ch i l d ren 's  and  gra ndch i l-d ren ' s  l ives as  we l l .  I a lso 
look fo rward to making al l  of you proud you had the opportun ity to meet me .  
Si ncere ly, 
S idney Devon McCorvey, J r. 
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Good morn ing Cha i rman Ho lmberg and  members of the Senate Appropriat ions  Comm ittee. I a m  
Jenn ife r Horn ing a n d  I represent Face I t  TOGETH ER, a non-profit add ict ion ma nagement orga n izat ion 
com m itted to he lp ing peop le who strugg le with add ict ion get we l l  and stay we l l .  

I a m  a provider fo r Free Through Recove ry. I have been a pa rt o f  FTR s ince i t  bega n l ast Februa ry .  I t  
h a s  been a n  amazing expe rience to meet a nd connect i nd ivid ua l s  with progra ms in  t h e  com mun ity 
and  get them back on the i r  feet. What I have lea rned is that peop le want the support, but l i ke many of 
us, a re afra id to ask fo r he lp .  Often they a re ashamed a nd do not want to be judge .  Hav ing someone 
there to support them and answer q uest ions eases  the i r  a nxiety. Go ing to appo intments w i th  them, 
he lp i ng them complete paperwork, giv ing them r ides to a ppo intments, connecting them with peer  
supports, or  just having a safe person to ta l k  to is what they need to rema i n  we l l  a nd connected .  

I ca n t h i n k  o f  one  o f  my  cl ients who when  we  fi rst met was com p let ing res identia l treatment a t  
Hea rtview. S he  was h ad  been abusing hero i n .  S he  was  very open  to  t he  progra m and  we  immed iate ly 
got to work connect ing her with a Peer Support Specia l ist whi le she conti n ued with her  IOP and then 
her  AC .  I was  ab le to connect her  with a n  emp loye r a nd she was soon  working FT. She was strugg l i ng  
w i th  custody of  her son ,  I was a b le to  write letters of support, beca use she was do ing so we l l  she was 
a b le  to ut i l ize a n  attorney and get regu l a r  vis its w i th  her son .  She a lso just recently b rought her  
da ughter home.  I n  November, she sta rted going to the Ha i r  Academy, a goa l she had set  ea rly o n  in  
ou r  re lat ionsh ip .  Money is somet imes tight, but she knows she has  i nd iv id ua l s  she ca n turn to fo r 
support and wi l l  ass ist any way we ca n .  I am ve ry proud of the ha rd work she has  done fo r herse lf. 

I have a gent leman that I sta rted working with short ly after FTR bega n .  I met h im  wh i le  he was sti l l  i n  
pr ison .  We immed iately connected when he was  re leased . Th i s  is the  longest he has rema ined out of  
pr ison, he understood right away he cou ld  not  connect with o ld  friends .  Fo r  h im support came from 
fam i ly and  12-step meetings. He a l so l i kes the accountab i l ity of hav ing a ca re coord i nator that meets 
with h im  when he wa nts and he lps h im  with his needs .  Somet imes that is just to ta l k .  For the fi rst 
t ime in December  he was ab le  to leave the state and  go to D isney World with h i s  fam i ly .  He was very 
proud  of that. He he lps h i s  fam i ly with b i l l s, he bought h i s  own ca r, a nd he has  a great job .  Al l th i ngs 
he has not had or done before .  

Tha n k  you fo r you r  cons ideration .  I encou rage you to fu l ly fund th i s  importa nt i n it iat ive. 
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Chairman Holmberg and members of the committee, my name is Carlotta McCleary. I am the 

Executive Director for both Mental Health America of North Dakota and North Dakota 

Federation of Families for Children's Mental Health. Today I speak on behalf of the Mental 

Health Advocacy Network (MHAN). MHAN advocates for a consumer/family driven mental 

health system of care that provides an array of service choices that are timely, responsive and 

effective. 

MHAN has provided testimony since the 2015 session and the most recent interim human 

service and health service committee meetings regarding our priorities. We argue that peer to 

peer and family support, consumer choice, diversion from corrections, a core services zero-

reject model, and conflict free grievance and appeals processes, and the access to a full and 

functional continuum of care serve as the backbone to correcting the crisis in North Dakota's 

behavioral health system. 

MHAN is testifying in support of SB 2029, which would establish a community-based 

behavioral health program similar to Free Through Recovery, but this program would be for 

people who are not involved in the criminal justice system. SB 2029 will "provide 

comprehensive community-based services for individuals who have serious behavioral health 

conditions." One of the essential components of the Free Through Recovery Model is peer 

support. 
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MHAN's number one priority is funding for peer-to-peer and family-to-family support. 

For the last three sessions, consumers and families have made it known that peer support 

is a critical service that is both dramatically underfunded for children and is only 

available to adults if they are involved in the corrections system. 

Peer support is an evidence-based practice. The Schulte report made clear, "The use of 

peers, family support peers, recovery coaches, and other persons with lived experience, 

is an evidence-based practice and a growing national trend with good treatment 

outcomes. In rural areas with behavioral health professional shortages, like North 

Dakota, using peers and other interested persons like teachers, law enforcement 

personnel, emergency workers, etc . are instrumental to expanding the workforce. In 

addition, increasing the number of out-stationed workers in the community is key to 

improving access to services."  

MHAN believes that peer to peer support services should be included and adequately 

funded (not volunteer, but with fair wages and benefits) in every region of the state 

through Regional Recovery Centers, family and consumer run non-profits, or other 

appropriate outlets. 

Even though MHAN supports SB 2029, we do have reservations. Since the rollout of 

Free Through Recovery, we have become aware of some concerns with peer support 

specialists not being reimbursed for their services. We suggest that the North Dakota 

Legislature and the Department of Human Services correct this problem as this moves 

forward. It is essential that the peer support workforce is respected as they do this 

important work. 

I would be happy to take any questions you have. 



Carlotta McCleary, Spokesman 
Mental Health Advocacy Network (MHAN) 
523 North 4th Street 
Bismarck ND 5 8501 

Email : cmccleary@mhand.org 

Phone: (701)255-3692 
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Chairman and Committee, 

Thank you for listening to my testimony this week on mental health and peer support in support 
of bill SB 2029. My name is Emma Quinn and I live with Bipolar 2. My journey with mental health 
started at age 1 2  for me, but it wasn't until I lost my brother at age 19 that I realized the 
importance of taking care of my mental health. Watching my parents bury their 21  year old son 
is the reason I speak up, it is my goal to save as many families from that pain as possible. 

All my l ife I have struggled with depression, anxiety, suicidal thoughts and self harm. I knew 
reaching out for help was essential to dealing with my illness but due to extreme financial costs I 
was rarely able to do so. It wasn't unti l  the Medicaid expansion that I was able to get the help I 
truly needed and deserved. It was because of that initial help by the government that I was able 
to go on to finish college, get my dream job, build a family, start a business , and most 
importantly afford private health insurance. 

Unlike addiction mental health is an extremely lonely world. Only in intensive treatment and 
waiting rooms are you connected to others that l ive in your world. I never felt more understood 
and accepted as I did when I was in treatment. I was able to see other faces that struggled with 
the same things I did. I was able to have open and honest conversations on topics that make 
most people turn away. Once I was well enough to leave treatment I lost contact with all my 
peers ; I never had those honest conversations again. This is why peer support is so important to 
the mental health system, no one should feel alone in this world . 

To say there are huge gaps in the mental health system is an understatement .  Knowing the 
importance of mental health I have made it my top priority to get the care I need. Sadly it is not a 
system that is easily navigated or understood, especially if you are put on medications that are 
not the right fit for you. To have a peer support or care coordinator to help me navigate the 
system and show me the resources available to me would have saved me many years of crying 
and frustration. 

I am not apart of the criminal justice system nor have I ever been and I do not struggle with 
addiction. I became aware of the peer support program and Free Through Recovery just a short 
two months ago. Because I have done so well on my mental health journey I wanted to help 
others get to the place I was, everyone deserves happiness even if you're mentally ill . I s igned 
up for the peer support training not knowing what it was . I have become so passionate about it 
because I truly feel that i t  is one of the things that will help fill the gaps in the mental health 
system. To have someone to help guide me along the process and teach me how to advocate 
for myself would have been an invaluable resource early on in my recovery. 

There are often times I find myself wishing for someone to understand how I feel . Even though 
clinicians are trained in illness they do not understand my daily struggles . Free Through 
Recovery has had amazing results across the state, I have trained with and trained many of it's 
participants . They often speak of how it was their care coordinator and their peer support that 
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never gave up on them that made the difference in their recovery. Thank you for passing the 
Free Through Recovery program, because of you children across the state have their parents 
back and recovery is now a way of living. 

Many states have already implemented these programs and North Dakota has the unique 
ability to learn from their successes and struggles . By creating a certification process and having 
a standard of care we elevate the level of care our community receives . Mental health is just as 
important as physical health and it should be billed to insurance equally. By creating these 
programs we are allowing our state to receive much needed services at an affordable price. We 
are able to place individuals with lived experiences in places where crisis' show up most 
frequently ie. Emergency Rooms, the foster care system, and homeless shelters. By expanding 
these services and making them billable enables us as a state to put them where we see the 
need. 

I ask for your support on bills SB 2029 so that all North Dakotans can get the help that they 
need. 

Thank you, 

Emma Quinn 
3337 18th St. S 
Fargo, ND 58104 
emmalstandridge@gmail .com 
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My name is Richard Pallay , I l l  from Fargo, ND and I 'd like to f irst thank you for allowing me to 
share this morning. I have carried the burden of gambling addiction for over 10 years . Countless 
times I felt l ike I was drowning, but I often tried to convince myself and others I did not have a 
problem when I was only fooling myself . My l i fe was spiraling, with feelings of desperation, 
carelessness , and anxiety , and my gambling addiction cost me so many things I valued. I lost 
my job, close friendships , a good reputation, and almost lost my marriage. 

Now, over a year later, I have a better chapter to share in my story . I have completed an 
outpatient program for compuls ive gamblers called Gambler's Choice, through the Lutheran 
Social Services of North Dakota. They helped me find healing, help, and hope through this 
program and saved my l ife when I hit rock bottom, with nowhere else to turn. They showed me 
that recovery was poss ible if only I pressed through the tunnel to reach the light at the end. 

I have also completed Peer Support Specialist training, which has enhanced my l ived 
experience with recovery and given me confidence and skills to make better choices , l ive 
productively , and help my peers do the same. I'm on a new path, a well-lit path of recovery , 
achieving goals I would have never accomplished before. With the help and programs from 
organizations and groups like Lutheran Social Services and Gambler's Anonymous , I am no 
longer bound by my addiction. I am an active participant and try to give back, by sharing my 
recovery story with others new to the program, who still suffer. 

The Lutheran Social Services programs have helped me and so many others who have been 
gripped with this destructive addiction and mental health issues . These programs are effective 
and successful in changing lives . I am in favor of this bill, and it is my hope that the great work 
organizations l ike Lutheran Social Services and many others are doing, can expand and do 
more, with your needed resources and support. 

Thank you in advance for your consideration. 

Si
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